Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: March 31, 2021 ACCEPTED: April 17, 2021 PUBLISHED: May 6, 2021

Chaotic scattering of highly excited strings

David J. Gross^a and Vladimir Rosenhaus^{b,c}

^aKavli Institute for Theoretical Physics,

University of California, Santa Barbara, CA 93106, U.S.A.

^bSchool of Natural Sciences, Institute for Advanced Study,

1 Einstein Drive, Princeton, NJ 08540, U.S.A.

^c Initiative for the Theoretical Sciences The Graduate Center, City University of New York, 365 Fifth Ave, New York, NY 10016, U.S.A.

E-mail: gross@kitp.ucsb.edu, vladr@ias.edu

ABSTRACT: Motivated by the desire to understand chaos in the S-matrix of string theory, we study tree level scattering amplitudes involving highly excited strings. While the amplitudes for scattering of light strings have been a hallmark of string theory since its early days, scattering of excited strings has been far less studied. Recent results on black hole chaos, combined with the correspondence principle between black holes and strings, suggest that the amplitudes have a rich structure. We review the procedure by which an excited string is formed by repeatedly scattering photons off of an initial tachyon (the DDF formalism). We compute the scattering amplitude of one arbitrary excited string and any number of tachyons in bosonic string theory. At high energies and high mass excited state these amplitudes are determined by a saddle-point in the integration over the positions of the string vertex operators on the sphere (or the upper half plane), thus yielding a generalization of the "scattering equations". We find a compact expression for the amplitude of an excited string decaying into two tachyons, and study its properties for a generic excited string. We find the amplitude is highly erratic as a function of both the precise excited string state and of the tachyon scattering angle relative to its polarization, a sign of chaos.

KEYWORDS: Bosonic Strings, Black Holes in String Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 2103.15301



Contents

1	Introduction		1
	1.1	Black holes, strings, and chaos	2
	1.2	Scattering of highly excited strings	6
	1.3	Future work	7
	1.4	Outline	8
2	Rev	view of tachyon scattering	9
3	Bui	lding excited string states	13
	3.1	Level-one and level-two states	15
	3.2	Level- N states	18
	3.3	Completeness of operators	23
	3.4	Summary	24
4	Amplitude with one excited string: formalism		25
	4.1	A special choice of polarizations	26
	4.2	General polarization	29
5	Amplitude with one excited string: properties		30
	5.1	Two tachyons and one excited string	30
	5.2	Three tachyons and one excited string	38
6	Dis	cussion	40
\mathbf{A}	Cov	variant vertex operators	41
в	Nor	malization of DDF operators	43
\mathbf{C}	C A generalization of the scattering equations		
D	A t	ypical string state	45

1 Introduction

This will be the first in a series of papers in which we study string theory scattering amplitudes involving highly excited strings. This differs from most previous studies of string scattering, which either involve only light strings, or compute the decay rate of an excited string. We will be studying exclusive amplitudes involving precisely specified, yet generic, heavy string states. **Three questions.** The motivation for this study stems from three related questions.

The first question has to do with black hole chaos: fairly recently it was recognized that black holes are chaotic [1-3]. The chaos — exponential divergence of trajectories in phase space — is a result of the redshift near the horizon. The geometry of the black hole sets the Lyaponuv exponent. Chaotic systems are known to have a rich array of properties: are there qualitative or quantitative statements that can be made about black hole chaos that go beyond this elementary diagnostic of Lyaponuv behavior?

The second question has to do with chaos in quantum field theory. Chaos has been extensively discussed in classical and quantum mechanics. What is the structure of chaos in the more general context of quantum field theory? It was recently proposed [4] that chaos can be seen in the erratic behavior of scattering amplitudes — physically measurable quantities. What is an analytically tractable example of such a system?

Our proposal is that both of these questions may have answers in the context of scattering of highly excited strings. Briefly, a generic heavy string will have a large number of excited modes; a cartoon is shown in figure 1 (c). We expect the scattering amplitude of a light string off of the excited string to be highly erratic as a function of the outgoing angle, or the ingoing angle, or a small change in the state of the excited string. Moreover, the Horowitz-Polchinski correspondence principle between black holes and strings states [5], in effect, that some of the black hole microstates have a one-to-one mapping to excited string states, and the number of such states is enough to comprise an order-one fraction of the black hole — is small, suggesting that we may be able to study black hole chaos by studying string chaos within string perturbation theory. This is an extremely fortuitous statele resonances that can mimic the microstates of a black hole and exhibit chaos.

Finally, we believe that the study of scattering of high energy, highly excited strings may provide new insight into a third question, which is an old question: what is the high energy behavior of string theory?

In the rest of the introduction we discuss these motivations and background in more detail, overview how we will compute amplitudes with excited strings, mention what we think can be computed in future work, and give an outline of the paper.

1.1 Black holes, strings, and chaos

Pinball chaos. An iconic example of classical chaos is a ball bouncing around in a stadium. The stadium can be a rectangle with semicircular caps (Bunimovich stadium), or the inside of a square with a circle cut out (Sinai billiards), or something else. Two balls with similar starting positions and velocities will, after multiple collisions with the stadium boundaries, be at very different locations. Another example of chaos is a pinball game, sketched in figure 1(a). A small ball is sent in, it bounces around between three disks, and then escapes. While trapped between the disks, it is as if it is in a stadium. The outgoing angle of the ball is a highly erratic function of the ingoing angle: an arbitrarily small range of impact parameters can lead to all possible outgoing angles [6-12].



Figure 1. (a) Pinball scattering is a prototypical example of classical chaos: the particle's outgoing angle is highly sensitive to its impact parameter [6–12]. This is a consequence of the enormous number of qualitatively different scattering trajectories. Giving the labels 1, 2, 3 to the three disks, a trajectory that involves n bounces between the disks before escaping is of the form e.g. 12132.... The number of such trajectories grows as 2^n . (b) Scattering off of a black hole is also chaotic: a small perturbation of the black hole state, by for instance adding an extra soft particle, causes a large change in the state of the outgoing Hawking radiation [3]. (c) Our goal is to study scattering off of a highly excited string, which we hope will also exhibit chaos. In all three of these physically very different setups, there are an exponentially large number of internal states.

The pinball game will be useful to keep in mind — it is an example of chaos manifesting itself as erratic behavior of the (one-to-one classical) S-matrix, thereby providing an entry point for discussing chaos in quantum field theory and string theory, where the S-matrix is the natural observable.

Black hole chaos. While it has been known since the discovery of Hawking radiation that quantum black holes have thermodynamic properties, it is only fairly recently that it was recognized how to see black hole chaos [1, 2]. The diagnostic for semiclassical quantum chaos that was applied is the exponential growth of the out-of-time-order correlator [2, 13, 14], which defines a quantum Lyaponuv-like exponent. Soon after, a simple argument for the Lyaponuv exponent of a black hole was given in [3]: slightly perturbing a radiating black hole by throwing a particle into it causes the horizon to expand slightly, which due to the redshift factor, causes an exponentially large time delay in the escape of Hawking quanta being emitted soon thereafter. The redshift is controlled by the black hole temperature T, which sets the Lyaponuv exponent $\lambda = 2\pi T/\hbar$. Black hole chaos, once mysterious, is in fact a simple geometric effect.

One should keep in mind that these arguments are, by necessity, semiclassical. The picture of Hawking radiation as photons "starting off" outside and close to the horizon, with the photons closer to the horizon escaping later, is only valid for a limited amount time (the scrambling time).¹ This is sufficient to establish the Lyaponuv exponent, but it is insufficient to say much else. In particular, in the setup in [3], one does not know

¹The scrambling time for a black hole is of order $T \log T$. This is the same as the Ehrenfest time, the time after which the semiclassical approximation breaks down.

what effect the extra particle that was sent in has on Hawking quanta emitted more than a scrambling time later.

Note that, for a classically chaotic system, it is simple to linearize the equations of motion around some point in phase space, $\dot{x} \approx Ax$. If the matrix A has eigenvalues with positive real parts then, at least in that region of phase space, the system is chaotic.² Of course, this says little about how trajectories will evolve over longer times.

Beyond Lyaponuv exponents. Diagnosing that a system is chaotic is only the start. The Lyaponuv exponent is by itself of little interest; what one would like is to compute the physical observables. For the pinball game, this is the mean escape time: if one averages over ingoing angles of the particle sent in, what is the average amount of time that the particle spends trapped between the three disks before escaping? The solution is found in [6-11]. The three disk game is a warmup for a ball bouncing between many disks, which is a warmup for many billiard balls of the same size colliding against each other. The microscopic chaos is apparent; what one seeks are the macroscopically measured quantities — the transport coefficients. A complete understanding of chaos in the system should provide a prescription for computing the transport coefficients.

Chaos in the S-matrix. Diagnosing chaos for the black hole relied on semiclassical geometry. What are we to do in a more general context in quantum field theory and string theory when there is none? A black hole can be viewed as a long lived resonance in the scattering matrix of quantum gravity. It is natural to propose that for a general quantum field theory, chaos is reflected in erratic behavior of the S-matrix under a small change in the *in* or the *out* state [4]. To be in a chaotic regime one needs to be far from the vacuum, requiring either a very high energy collision, or an S-matrix involving a large number of particles. The S-matrix encodes far more information than the Lyaponuv exponent, but of course the S-matrix involving a black hole is unknown.

In the context of quantum mechanics, in order for the S-matrix to exhibit chaos, one would expect a necessary condition is a large number of closely and erratically spaced resonances. To see this, note that in the case of pinball scattering, chaos is a result of the particle sometimes spending a very long time bouncing between the disks before escaping. For some amount of time the trajectory of the particle is well approximated by one of the (unstable) bound periodic orbits that are trapped within the disks. When considered quantum mechanically, these periodic orbits manifest themselves as resonances. If we consider scattering in quantum mechanics off of a potential, then if the potential has long-lived bound states, the S-matrix will have poles in the complex energy plane. In particular, for a wave reflecting off of a potential, the transmission factor will have a jump at the resonance energy, and each such jump in the phase angle gives a time delay, see e.g. [15, 16].

Achieving a large number of closely spaced resonances in quantum field theory would generally require strong coupling, in order to produce a large number of bound states. This

²In addition, it is assumed that phase space is bounded. Note also, the quantum Lyaponuv exponent defined through the out-of-time-order correlator is more like the largest positive eigenvalue of A rather than the standard classical Lyaponuv exponent, which is defined by a time average over an entire trajectory.

means we would lose analytic control and be unable to compute the S-matrix. Indeed, this is the kind of situation which leads to black holes as intermediate states.

An evident exception is a highly excited string. A string — even a free string — has an enormous number of internal states. This suggests that weakly coupled string theory may be the rare case in which the S-matrix is both computable and exhibits erratic behavior. In fact, we have come full circle, due to the Horowitz-Polchinski correspondence principle between black holes and strings [5], which we now review.

The correspondence principle. Consider a string with zero angular momentum, in four dimensions. The string coupling g_s is related to Newton's constant G through $G \sim g_s^2 \alpha'$, where α' is proportional to the inverse of the string tension or the string length squared. As one increases Newton's constant, the string (like any other object) will eventually collapse into a black hole. The transition is difficult to specify precisely, but it roughly occurs when the string is contained within its Schwarzschild radius, 2GM. If we take the size of the string to be of order $\sqrt{\alpha'}/G$. The mass of a string, in terms of its excitation level N, is $\sqrt{N/\alpha'}$. Thus, the transition occurs at $g_s \sim N^{-\frac{1}{4}}$.

This is the first nontrivial result: for a highly excited string, the string coupling at the transition is small. As [5] states, this did not have to be the case. Consequently, one can hope to use weak coupling perturbation theory to study the stringy black holes. For example, for large excitation level N, and for non-interacting strings, there are exponentially (in \sqrt{N}) string states of mass $\sqrt{N/\alpha'}$. These states are degenerate and stable, but interactions will shift the masses and widths by an amount $\sim g_s^2 M \sim g_s^2 \sqrt{N/\alpha'} \sim \sqrt{1/\alpha'}$, small compared to the mass for large N.

The second result is that at the transition, the entropy of the string and of the black hole are of the same order. The entropy of the string scales as \sqrt{N} (this follows from the standard counting of the degeneracy of string states at level N, and will be reviewed in appendix. D). The Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the black hole scales as the horizon area divided by Newton's constant, $S \sim \frac{A}{G}$, which at the transition also scales as \sqrt{N} , $S \sim GM^2 \sim g_s^2 N \sim \sqrt{N}$.

It is remarkable, and perhaps unique to string theory, that the transition occurs at weak coupling and that the entropies are of the same order. If one were to consider any other nearly static object on the verge of collapsing into a black hole — for instance, a neutron star — then its entropy would be vastly less than the black hole entropy, scaling as $A^{3/4}$ in Planck units, rather than A [17].

In this argument, the size of the string is taken to be $\sqrt{\alpha'}$. This is only approximately correct: a typical excited string would seem to be larger, due to its random walk like behavior, but the effect is partially offset by gravitational self-interactions. Defining what is meant precisely by the size of the string [18], as well as computing the size, is challenging [19–21]. Regardless, the argument in [5] is sufficient to establish that the entropy of a string is of the same order as the entropy of a black hole.³

 $^{^{3}}$ We see no reason to believe that they are exactly equal [22], except in some special cases [23].

1.2 Scattering of highly excited strings

The Veneziano amplitude — the tree level scattering amplitude of four tachyons — is one of the iconic results in string theory [24–26]. A simple beta function of the Mandelstam variables, it encodes many of the remarkable properties of string theory. The generalization to the scattering amplitude of N tachyons — the Koba-Nielsen formula [27] — is also wellknown. While the formula is compact, hidden within the integrals is a rich underlying complexity: the intermediate states of a high energy N-point tachyon amplitude contain highly excited strings. Indeed, the number of different strings states at a given mass grows exponentially with the mass. Our goal will be to extract this structure, in a controlled way.

We will study tree-level scattering amplitudes, not of a large number of tachyons, but of a small number of highly excited strings. As we will see, the scattering of excited strings can be regarded as extracting a subset of diagrams appearing in the scattering of tachyons in particular kinematic configurations.

In order to study chaos in string scattering, we need to know the exclusive scattering amplitude for precisely specified excited strings; taking inclusive or averaged amplitudes would likely wash out the effects we are seeking. As a result, many of the quantities that have been previously studied involving excited strings, such as the total decay rate of the string [28–32], the amplitude for two light strings to form a heavy string [33, 34], the amplitude with an average over the excited string states [35], or the amplitude involving the leading Regge trajectory [36], are inapplicable. What we need is the amplitude involving generic string states, chosen from the ensemble of the exponentially many states at a given mass.

The main challenge in computing scattering amplitudes with excited strings, at least at tree level, is actually specifying the excited string states. If, instead of a fundamental string, we had a violin string, then every state would be specified by the energy in each of the modes. However, for a fundamental string, the modes are not independent. Recall that in the Polyakov action, the worldsheet metric is a variable, which we may fix to be the flat metric. Each mode then appears independent and free, yet the equations of motion coming from the variation of the worldsheet metric — that the worldsheet energymomentum tensor vanishes — must be obeyed, thereby leading to the Virasoro constrains for the modes. For the low level states, the constraints are simple to solve, but they become increasingly cumbersome at higher levels, see e.g. [37-40]. Fortunately, there is a more systematic and physical approach: the DDF construction [41]. In short, the construction amounts to starting with a tachyon and then repeatedly scattering photons off of it.⁴ The explicit form of the resulting vertex operator for an arbitrary string state, which we will need, was worked out only relatively recently [42].

In this paper we concentrate on amplitudes involving tachyons and one excited string. Our focus will really be on the simplest case: the amplitude of a highly excited string decaying into two tachyons. We find the amplitude is highly sensitive to both the precise state of the excited string and the tachyon scattering angle relative to the polarization of

⁴Viewing an S-matrix involving a highly excited string as part of an S-matrix with a large number of photons is in line with the proposal in [4] that one look for chaos in a many-particle S-matrix.

the stringy state. However, a discussion of chaos in string scattering that goes beyond this elementary observation is left for [43]. The study of amplitudes involving more than one excited string is challenging and is largely left to future work; in [44] we compute the simplest amplitude, the three-point amplitude, in which all three strings are excited.^{5,6}

1.3 Future work

There are a number of other calculations that we believe should be possible to do.

The excited string as a random walk. We find the scattering amplitudes through a direct computation using vertex operators. One would like a simpler and more intuitive calculation. A generic highly excited string is often modeled as a random walk [19, 54–60], with interactions between strings a result of strings splitting and joining [61, 62]. One would like to calculate the scattering amplitude using this model. Certainly the picture of the excited string as a random walk makes it intuitive that the amplitude should behave erratically; one would like to make this precise.

The decaying string and black body radiation. Amati and Russo [35], see also [63– 73] studied the decay of a massive string into a photon and another massive string, averaging over the initial string states of the same mass, and summing over all outgoing heavy string states. It was found that the decay rate, as a function of the photon energy, obeys a black body spectrum with a temperature that is the Hagedorn temperature. This is consistent with the Horowitz-Polchinski correspondence as the Hagedorn temperature is $1/\sqrt{\alpha'}$, which coincides with the Bekenstein-Hawking temperature, $\frac{1}{GM}$, since $G \sim g_s^2 \alpha'$ and $M \sim \sqrt{N/\alpha'}$, which agree when $g_s \sim N^{-\frac{1}{4}}$. Using the methods presented here allows one to compute the exclusive amplitudes of a particular heavy string decaying into a particular heavy string and a photon [44]. Averaging should of course reproduce the blackbody spectrum, but the exclusive amplitude will give much more: it will allow one to see precisely how the radiation differs for each string microstate, the string analog of the long sought goal of extracting information from Hawking radiation.⁷

Loop corrections. Free excited strings have an enormous degeneracy of energy levels: the number of degenerate states scales exponentially with the mass. At finite string coupling one expects this degeneracy to be completely broken, with resulting energy level spacings that are exponentially small.

A more tractable starting point is finding the energy levels perturbatively in the string coupling. At leading order, one should compute the one loop string diagram correction to the two-point amplitude of a heavy string. Loop amplitudes in string theory are in principle straightforward; it is the same computation as the tree level diagram, but on a

⁵There have been a number of previous studies of the three-point amplitude of excited strings, such as [45-50], but as far as we know, none of these give a usable form for the amplitude involving typical highly excited strings.

 $^{^{6}}$ It may be interesting to understand how these compare with the cubic couplings [51–53] in the putative AdS dual of the SYK model.

 $^{^{7}}$ It was recently proposed [74–77] that for black holes information can be recovered by including new replica wormhole saddles in the gravitational path integral.

torus or cylinder, though such computations in practice are involved. One loop diagrams were studied in [78–89]. These studies average over the string states. One would like to compute the one loop amplitude for precisely defined excited string states, using the same DDF vertex operators discussed here. The imaginary part of the one loop diagram gives back the tree level amplitude of a heavy string decaying to two heavy strings, while the real part gives the mass shift.

Saddles for high energy, fixed angle scattering. At low energies, strings behave as particles and the dynamics can be represented by a local effective field theory. At high energies (equivalently, in the tensionless limit $T = 1/\pi \alpha'$, with $\alpha' \to \infty$), strings are very stringy. One might hope that in this ultra high energy limit string theory simplifies. Concretely, do the string scattering amplitudes in this limit admit a simple spacetime interpretation illustrating how the strings are interacting?

Gross and Mende studied high energy, fixed angle scattering amplitudes of tachyons [90–93]. They found, at each order in string perturbation theory, a particular saddle for the path integral over surfaces, and furthermore argued that this may be the dominant saddle (the saddle equations have many solutions and most are unknown, so this has never been definitively shown). Equipped with the saddle, one has a spacetime picture of how the strings interact [91].

Since most string states are highly excited, it seems in fact more natural to ask about the high energy, fixed angle amplitudes of generic highly excited strings.⁸ What are the equations describing the saddles in this case, and is there a dominant saddle? Concretely, in section 5.2, we will present the tree level amplitude involving one excited string and three tachyons. What are the saddles?⁹

There is an intriguing connection with field theory amplitudes. The saddle equations for *n*-point tree level tachyons amplitudes [90] are the same equations as the scattering equations appearing in the CHY formula for field theory amplitudes of massless particles [95–97], see appendix C. The saddle equations we will find for highly excited string amplitudes are a generalization of the scattering equations; do they have a field theory application?

1.4 Outline

The paper is organized as follows.

In section 2 we establish notation and review tachyon scattering amplitudes.

In section 3 we review the explicit construction of the vertex operators which create any excited string state.

⁸If one is scattering excited strings, rather than tachyons, then as long as the masses of the strings are held fixed as the scattering energies are taken to infinity, the analysis of Gross and Mende doesn't change and the same saddle solutions hold. However, if the string mass is also taken to infinity, then the saddles change. This is the limit we are interested in now: large Mandelstam s and t, and large excitation level N, while keeping the ratio fixed.

⁹As we have remarked earlier, scattering of excited strings can be viewed as picking out a subset of diagrams appearing in the many-point amplitude of light strings, suggesting that the solutions of the saddle equations for heavy string 4-point amplitudes comprise a subset of the solutions for *n*-point tachyon amplitude saddle equations. This may give a handle on the enormous number ((n-3)! at tree level) of saddles for the *n*-point tachyon amplitude. See [94] for a recent discussion of the saddles at large *n*.

In section 4 we use these operators to compute the amplitude involving one excited string and any number of tachyons. In section 4.1 we discuss the special case in which the polarizations of all the photons creating the excited state are orthogonal to each other, leading to a significant simplification of the amplitude. The amplitude with an arbitrary excited string is discussed in section 4.2. A nontrivial check on the results that we perform is showing that the integrand for the amplitude exhibits SL_2 invariance.

In section 5 we return to the amplitude involving one excited string, studying it in detail in section 5.1 for a (typical) highly excited string decaying to two tachyons and briefly in section 5.2 for an excited string decaying to three tachyons. The reader who is uninterested in the details may go directly to section 5.

In section 6 we end with a brief discussion.

In appendix A we review the construction of covariant vertex operators via the Virasoro constraints. In appendix B we check the normalization of the DDF operators. In appendix C we exhibit a generalization of the scattering equations which determine the high energy scattering of light and massive string states. In appendix D we discuss the properties of a typical excited string.

2 Review of tachyon scattering

In this section we review the Polyakov action for a string, the expansion of the string field into oscillator modes, and the operator product expansion (OPE) of tachyon vertex operators. We also review the tachyon scattering amplitude and show that the integrand satisfies SL_2 invariance. In this paper we will be discussing D dimensional open bosonic string theory for simplicity. The generalization to the superstring is straightforward, and we don't expect any qualitatively different behavior.

The string action. The location of the string, as a function of the worldsheet space and time coordinates σ, t , is given by the string field $X^{\mu}(\sigma, t)$ which satisfies the Polyakov action,

$$-\frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'}\int d\tau d\sigma\,\sqrt{-\gamma}\gamma^{ab}\partial_a X^\mu\partial_b X_\mu\tag{2.1}$$

where the indices a, b range over the two worldsheet coordinates: σ and τ (the Euclidean worldsheet time), and the indices μ range over the D ambient spacetime coordinates. The action is diffeomorphism invariant, and we may chose γ_{ab} to be the flat metric, however we will still have to impose the equations of motions for γ_{ab} : that the worldsheet energy-momentum tensor vanishes. We will work in conventions with $\alpha' = 1/2$, and focus on open strings (the analysis with closed strings is similar).

The expansion of an open string in terms of oscillators is,

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma, t) = x^{\mu} + ip^{\mu}t + i\sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{1}{n} \alpha_n^{\mu} e^{-int} \cos n\sigma , \qquad (2.2)$$

where

$$[\alpha_m^{\mu}, \alpha_n^{\nu}] = m\delta_{m+n}\eta^{\mu\nu}, \quad [x^{\mu}, p^{\nu}] = i\eta^{\mu\nu}, \qquad \eta^{\mu\nu} = (-++\cdots+), \quad (2.3)$$

where x^{μ} and p^{μ} are the center of mass position and momentum of the string. The α_n^{μ} are the creation and annihilation operators: for negative n, α_n^{μ} excites level -n of the string in the direction μ . For an open string, the vertex operators are inserted on an endpoint of the string, which we take to be the left endpoint, $\sigma = 0$. The right endpoint is at $\sigma = \pi$. At the left endpoint,

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma = 0, t) \equiv X^{\mu}(z) = x^{\mu} - ip^{\mu}\log z + i\sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{1}{n} \alpha_n^{\mu} z^{-n}, \qquad z = e^{it}.$$
 (2.4)

It is standard to Wick rotate the Lorentzian worldsheet time t to Euclidean worldsheet time τ ,

$$\tau = -it$$
, $ds^2 = -dt^2 + d\sigma^2 = d\tau^2 + d\sigma^2$, (2.5)

and to map the string worldsheet onto the upper half plane. The mapping is,

$$z = e^{i\sigma-\tau}, \quad \overline{z} = e^{-i\sigma-\tau}, \qquad ds^2 = \frac{dzd\overline{z}}{|z|^2}.$$
 (2.6)

Notice that the string endpoints, $\sigma = 0$ and $\sigma = \pi$, are mapped onto the real axis: for $\sigma = 0, z = e^{-\tau}$. Finally, we note that the propagator is,

$$\langle X^{\mu}(z_1)X^{\nu}(z_2)\rangle = -\eta^{\mu\nu}\log z_{12} - \eta^{\mu\nu}\log \overline{z}_{12},$$

$$\langle \partial^{m_1}X(z_1)\partial^{m_2}X(z_2)\rangle = (-1)^{m_2}\frac{(m_1+m_2-1)!}{z_{21}^{m_1+m_2}}$$
(2.7)

In studying the OPE, we will only write the holomorphic piece.

Tachyon amplitudes and the OPE. Let us review the amplitude for the scattering of n tachyons. The vertex operator for a tachyon is given by,

$$:e^{ip\cdot X(z)}:, (2.8)$$

and the amplitude is,

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int \prod dz_i \, \langle \prod_{i=1}^n : e^{ip_i \cdot X(z_i)} : \rangle \,. \tag{2.9}$$

All that remains is to evaluate the right-hand side. Before proceeding, we review some elementary properties of the OPE, which we will need later in discussing the vertex operators for excited states.

Recall that the purpose of normal ordering is to remove divergent pieces which arise when two operators are brought together. For instance,

$$:\partial\phi(z)\partial\phi(z):=\lim_{w\to z}\left(\partial\phi(z)\partial\phi(w)-\langle\partial\phi(z)\partial\phi(w)\rangle\right) .$$
(2.10)

Normal ordering is important when we need to define composite operators. The product of two operators, A and B, can be written as,

$$A(z)B(w) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{N} \frac{\{AB\}_n(w)}{(z-w)^n}, \qquad A(z)B(w) \sim \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{\{AB\}_n(w)}{(z-w)^n}, \tag{2.11}$$

where the second term, with the \sim , is the OPE which only includes the divergent pieces in the expression. Thus, in the limit $z \to w$, we have a finite composite operator, along with a finite number of divergent terms which have been explicitly separated,

$$A(z)B(w) \to AB(w) : + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{\{AB\}_n(w)}{(z-w)^n}$$
 (2.12)

When computing the OPE, we first take all possible Wick contractions, and then Taylor expand what is left around w. For instance, let us look at the composite operator formed from the free field ϕ , with correlation function $\langle \partial \phi(z) \partial \phi(w) \rangle = -\frac{1}{(z-w)^2}$. We have,

$$: (\partial\phi(z))^{2} :: \partial\phi(w): = : (\partial\phi(w))^{3} : +2\partial\phi(z)\langle\partial\phi(z)\partial\phi(w)\rangle$$
$$\sim -2\frac{\partial\phi(z)}{(z-w)^{2}} \sim -2\frac{\partial\phi(w)}{(z-w)^{2}} - 2\frac{\partial^{2}\phi(w)}{z-w}, \qquad (2.13)$$

where in the second line we looked at just the OPE piece. Let us now look at the OPE of two tachyon vertex operators,

$$: e^{ip_1 \cdot X(z_1)} :: e^{ip_2 \cdot X(z_2)}:$$

$$= \sum_{n,m} \frac{1}{n!m!} : (ip_1 \cdot X(z_1))^n :: (ip_2 \cdot X(z_2))^m:$$

$$= \left(1 + \langle ip_1 \cdot X(z_1) ip_2 \cdot X(z_2) \rangle + \frac{1}{2!} (\langle ip_1 \cdot X(z_1) ip_2 \cdot X(z_2) \rangle)^2 + \ldots \right)$$

$$: e^{ip_1 \cdot X(z_1)} e^{ip_2 \cdot X(z_2)}:$$

$$= e^{-\langle p_1 \cdot X(z_1)p_2 \cdot X(z_2) \rangle}: e^{ip_1 \cdot X(z_1)} e^{ip_2 \cdot X(z_2)}:$$

$$= |z_{12}|^{p_1 \cdot p_2}: e^{ip_1 \cdot X(z_1)} e^{ip_2 \cdot X(z_2)}: . \qquad (2.14)$$

In the first equality we Taylor expanded the exponentials. In the second equality we performed Wick contractions, in the third equality we resummed the Wick contractions, and in the last equality we made use of the propagator (2.7). Similarly, the OPE of multiple tachyon vertex operators is given by,

$$\prod_{i} : e^{ip_{i} \cdot X(z_{i})} := \prod_{i < j} z_{ij}^{p_{i} \cdot p_{j}} : e^{i \sum_{i} p_{i} \cdot X(z_{i})} : .$$
(2.15)

To compute the expectation value, we may Taylor expand $X(z_i) = X(z_1) + \ldots$, and thus pick up a delta function for momentum conservation,

$$\langle :e^{i\sum_{i}p_{i}\cdot X(z_{i})}:\rangle = (2\pi)^{D}\delta^{D}\left(\sum_{i}p_{i}\right).$$

$$(2.16)$$

Equipped with this result, we can now evaluate the tachyon amplitude (2.9) to get the Koba-Nielsen formula,

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{(2\pi)^D \delta^D(\sum_i p_i)}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int \prod_i dz_i \prod_{i < j} z_{ij}^{p_i \cdot p_j} .$$
(2.17)

It will sometimes be convenient to write the integrand as,

$$\prod_{i < j} z_{ij}^{p_i \cdot p_j} = e^{\mathcal{L}}, \qquad \mathcal{L} = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} p_i \cdot p_j \log z_{ij} .$$
(2.18)

 SL_2 invariance. An important property of tree-level string theory amplitudes is that the integrand exhibits SL_2 invariance. While the SL_2 invariance of the tachyon amplitude is fairly evident, the SL_2 invariance of amplitudes with excited strings will be nontrivial. As warmup, here we check that the tachyon amplitude integrand is SL_2 invariant, by writing it in a manifestly SL_2 invariant form. Under an SL_2 transformation,

$$z_i \to \frac{az_i + b}{cz_i + d}$$
, where $ad - bc = 1$, (2.19)

and correspondingly the measure and difference between two points transform as,

$$dz_i \to \frac{1}{(cz_i + d)^2} dz_i , \qquad z_{ij} \to \frac{z_{ij}}{(cz_i + d)(cz_j + d)} .$$
 (2.20)

Let us consider the four-point amplitude first, n = 4. We may use momentum conservation to eliminate $p_1 = -\sum_{i>1} p_i$ in \mathcal{L} (2.18),

$$\mathcal{L} = p_2 \cdot p_3 \log \frac{z_{23}}{z_{12} z_{13}} + p_2 \cdot p_4 \log \frac{z_{24}}{z_{12} z_{14}} + p_3 \cdot p_4 \log \frac{z_{34}}{z_{13} z_{14}} - 2 \log z_{12} z_{13} z_{14} , \qquad (2.21)$$

where we used the mass-shell condition for tachyons, $p_i^2 = -m_i^2 = 2$. Using momentum conservation, $p_1^2 = (p_2 + p_3 + p_4)^2$, allows us to eliminate $p_2 \cdot p_3$, since $p_2 \cdot p_3 = -2 - p_2 \cdot p_4 - p_3 \cdot p_4$, and hence,

$$\mathcal{L} = p_2 \cdot p_4 \log \frac{z_{24} z_{13}}{z_{14} z_{23}} + p_3 \cdot p_4 \log \frac{z_{12} z_{34}}{z_{14} z_{23}} - 2 \log z_{23} z_{14} .$$
(2.22)

We now see that the amplitude is,

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int \frac{dz_1 dz_2 dz_3 dz_4}{z_{14}^2 z_{23}^2} R^{p_2 \cdot p_4} (R-1)^{p_3 \cdot p_4}, \qquad R = \frac{z_{13} z_{24}}{z_{14} z_{23}}, \tag{2.23}$$

which is manifestly SL₂ invariant. Using SL₂ symmetry, three of the points can be fixed: $z_1 = \infty$, $z_2 = 1$, $z_3 = z$ and $z_4 = 0$, turning the amplitude into,

$$\mathcal{A} = \int_0^1 dz \, z^{p_3 \cdot p_4} (1-z)^{p_2 \cdot p_3} = \beta(p_3 \cdot p_4 + 1, p_2 \cdot p_3 + 1) \tag{2.24}$$

where on the right we have the Euler beta function. Consider now the amplitude with n tachyons. We again eliminate p_1 in \mathcal{L} (2.18) through momentum conservation,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{1 < i < j \le n} p_i \cdot p_j \log \frac{z_{ij}}{z_{1i} z_{1j}} - 2 \sum_{1 < i \le n} \log z_{1i} .$$
(2.25)

Using momentum conservation, $p_1^2 = (\sum_{i>1} p_i)^2$, we eliminate $p_2 \cdot p_3$,

$$p_2 \cdot p_3 = 2 - n - \sum_{\substack{1 < i < j \le n \\ (i,j) \neq (2,3)}} p_i \cdot p_j, \qquad (2.26)$$

so that the amplitude becomes,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{\substack{1 < i < j \le n \\ (i,j) \neq (2,3)}} p_i \cdot p_j \log \frac{z_{ij} z_{12} z_{13}}{z_{1i} z_{1j} z_{23}} + \left(\log \frac{z_{23}}{z_{12} z_{13}} + \sum_{1 < i} \log \frac{z_{12} z_{13}}{z_{1i}^2 z_{23}} \right) .$$
(2.27)

The first term is manifestly SL_2 invariant. The second term, combined with the measure, is SL_2 invariant.¹⁰

3 Building excited string states

In the previous section we discussed the scattering of tachyons — the lightest string states. The majority of string states are, however, excited states, and it is their scattering amplitude that we are interested in. In this section we review the construction of vertex operators for excited string states.

The unique lightest string state is the tachyon, denoted by $|0;p\rangle$, where p is the center of mass momentum of the string. To build excited states, we act with the creation operator, α^{μ}_{-m} , which excites the m'th mode of the string, in the μ direction. An excited state is of the form

$$\alpha_{-m_1}^{\mu_1} \alpha_{-m_2}^{\mu_2} \cdots \alpha_{-m_k}^{\mu_k} |0; p\rangle , \qquad (3.1)$$

and has a mass,

$$M^2 = 2(N-1), \qquad N = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} N_m, \qquad N_m = \alpha_{-m} \cdot \alpha_m, \qquad (3.2)$$

where N_m is the number operator for the number of excited modes at level m, and N is the total level.

Not all states (3.1) are allowed; we must build superpositions which are annihilated by the Virasoro generators. This is discussed in more detail in appendix A. For instance, at level N = 1, the states are of the form $\lambda \cdot \alpha_{-1}|0; p\rangle$. There are two constraints: the polarization vector λ must be orthogonal to the momentum, $\lambda \cdot p = 0$, and one can add any multiple of p to λ and leave the amplitude unchanged. This leave D-2 independent states at level-one. These states are massless, and this result is just what we expect for photons: in D = 4 there are only two transverse polarizations, and changing the polarization by a vector proportional to the momentum leaves the amplitude unchanged. We will refer to the level-one states as photons (massless spin 1 particles). One can proceed to higher levels in a similar manner (N = 2 and N = 3 are done in appendix A), however with increasing N the process becomes increasingly more involved, making it difficult to write down the form of a state at general level N.

¹⁰To see this, notice that for the argument of the log to be invariant under inversions of z_a , there needs to be the same powers of z_a in both the numerator and denominator. For instance, $\log \frac{z_{23}}{z_{12}z_{13}}$ is invariant under $z_2 \rightarrow 1/z_2$. From the first log in parenthesis in (2.27) there is an extra z_1^2 in the denominator, and from the second log an extra factor z_i^2 in the denominator, for $i \neq 1$; so in total, an extra z_i^2 for all *i*. This is just what we need to cancel off the transformation of the measure, i.e. dz_i/z_i^2 is invariant under inversions.



Figure 2. Starting with a tachyon of momentum \tilde{p} , photons with momentum proportional to q are scattered off of it, resulting in an excited string of momentum p.

A more physical and systematic approach comes from recognizing that all possible excited string states are already contained within *n*-point amplitudes of, for instance, tachyons or photons, in the form of intermediate states. To obtain the scattering amplitudes of the excited states, we simply need to pick them out.

We can do this iteratively. Suppose we have a string moving with momentum \tilde{p} and created with the vertex operator $V(z)e^{i\tilde{p}\cdot X(z)}$. We will scatter a photon off of this state. The vertex operator for a photon of momentum $m q_{\mu}$ (*m* is an integer and q_{μ} is a null vector) is,

$$i\lambda \cdot \partial X e^{imq \cdot X(z)},$$
(3.3)

where the polarization λ^{μ} is orthogonal to the momentum, $\lambda \cdot q = 0$. Formally, the process of picking out the state after scattering the string with the photon consists of taking the OPE of the photon vertex operator and the vertex operator of the initial string state. A contour integral then picks out the pole in the OPE. Explicitly, one computes,

$$\oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} : i\lambda \cdot \partial X(z) \, e^{imqX(z)} :: V(0) e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} : \qquad (3.4)$$

To make the procedure systematic, we define,

$$\lambda \cdot A_m = \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} \lambda \cdot \partial X(z) \, e^{imq \cdot X(z)} \,, \qquad q^2 = 0 \,, \quad \lambda \cdot q = 0 \,, \quad |\lambda|^2 \neq 0 \tag{3.5}$$

The A_m^{μ} are the DDF operators [26, 41, 42]. It is standard [26] to choose a coordinate system in which q_{μ} points in the + direction. One can check that the transverse A_m^i obey the commutation relations of creation and annihilation operators: they are isomorphic to the transverse components of the operators α_m^{μ} , and describe the transverse modes of the string. However, it is unnecessary to pick a coordinate system, so we will continue working with the covariant form (3.5). Notice that from the form (3.5) it is clear that, regardless of the coordinate system, there are D-2 independent A_m^{μ} . The counting is identical to the counting of the number of independent photon polarizations, as discussed above. Explicitly, $\lambda \cdot q = 0$ gives one constraint. A second constraint is that we can add any multiple of q to λ and leave the amplitude unchanged, since we just pick up a total derivative,

$$\oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} q \cdot \partial X(z) e^{imq \cdot X(z)} = \frac{1}{im} \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} \partial e^{imq \cdot X(z)} = 0, \qquad (3.6)$$

To construct the vertex operator for an excited string state, we start with a tachyon of momentum \tilde{p} , and iteratively scatter photons off of it, as shown in figure 2,

$$(\lambda_k \cdot A_{-m_k}) \cdots (\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2}) (\lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1}) e^{i p \cdot X} .$$

$$(3.7)$$

$$\overline{\widetilde{p}} \int p = \widetilde{p} - q$$

Figure 3. Forming the sate $\lambda \cdot A_{-1}|0\rangle$ by scattering a photon off of a tachyon.

We have picked a very particular scattering configuration, in which each photon has momentum in the same direction, parallel to q (this is in fact sufficient to generate any excited string state; we will elaborate on this later). The momentum of the *i*'th photon is $-m_i q$ and its polarization is λ_i . The resulting string state has momentum $p = \tilde{p} - Nq$ where $N = \sum_{i=1}^{k} m_i$. The mass of the state is $p^2 = 2(1 - N\tilde{p} \cdot q)$, where we used that the tachyon has mass $m^2 = -\tilde{p}^2 = 2$ and the photon is massless. In order for the excited string to have the correct mass, $M^2 = -p^2 = 2(N-1)$, we need to choose q such that $\tilde{p} \cdot q = 1$.

In what follows, we explicitly work out the form of these vertex operators, essentially reviewing the construction in [42, 98].¹¹ We start in section 3.1 with the N = 1 state, $\lambda \cdot A_{-1}|0\rangle$, and then the two N = 2 states: $\lambda \cdot A_{-2}|0\rangle$ and $(\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-1})(\lambda_1 \cdot A_{-1})|0\rangle$. In section 3.2 we first consider the state $\lambda \cdot A_{-m_1}|0\rangle$, then we look at the state $(\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2})(\lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1})|0\rangle$, and finally we compute the vertex operator for the general state (3.7).

3.1 Level-one and level-two states

In this section we construct the vertex operators for the states at level N = 1 and at level N = 2.

Level-one. We start with the simplest case of the N = 1 states, $\lambda \cdot A_{-1}|0; p\rangle$. Here we are scattering a photon of momentum q off of a tachyon, see figure 3. Applying (3.5) to the tachyon vertex operator, we need to compute,

$$: \lambda \cdot A_{-1} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} := \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} : \lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} :: e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} : .$$
(3.8)

To evaluate the contour integral, we must first evaluate the OPE. Taylor expanding the exponentials,

$$:\lambda\cdot\partial X(z)\,e^{-iq\cdot X(z)}::e^{i\widetilde{p}\cdot X(0)}:=\sum_{n,m}\frac{1}{n!m!}:\lambda\cdot\partial X(z)(-iq\cdot X(z))^n::(i\widetilde{p}\cdot X(0))^m:$$

and then Wick contracting, in a manner similar to the OPE of two tachyon vertex operators as discussed in section 2, gives,

$$:\lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} :: e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} :$$
$$= z^{-\widetilde{p} \cdot q} \left(:\lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} : -\frac{i\lambda \cdot \widetilde{p}}{z} : e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} :\right) .$$
(3.9)

 11 Useful discussions of the DDF operators also include [99, 100]. See also [101–107] for further applications.



Figure 4. (a) Forming the state $(\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-1})(\lambda_1 \cdot A_{-1})|0\rangle$. (b) Forming the state $\lambda \cdot A_{-2}|0\rangle$.

The factor of $z^{-\tilde{p}\cdot q}$ comes from contracting the exponentials. Since $\tilde{p} \cdot q = 1$, this factor is z^{-1} . Additionally, the first term in the parenthesis comes form $\partial X^{\mu}(z)$ uncontracted, while the second term comes from contracting $\langle \partial X^{\mu}(z) \, \tilde{p} \cdot X(0) \rangle = -\tilde{p}^{\mu}/z$. The only terms that will give a contribution to the contour integral (3.8) are the single poles. We should therefore Taylor expand X(z) about X(0) to pick out this contribution. For the first term in (3.9) we can just replace X(z) with X(0), whereas for the second term, the extra factor of 1/z leads us to keep the order z term in the expansion $X(z) = X(0) + z \partial X(0) + \ldots$ Thus, the single pole part of the OPE of the A_{-1} operator and the tachyon vertex operator is,

$$:\lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} :: e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} :$$

$$= \dots + \frac{1}{z} \left(:\lambda \cdot \partial X(0) e^{ip \cdot X(0)} :- \lambda \cdot \widetilde{p} : q \cdot \partial X(0) e^{ip \cdot X(0)} : \right) + \dots$$
(3.10)

where $p = \tilde{p} - q$. The integral (3.8) is now immediate, giving,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-1} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X} := i \zeta \cdot \partial X e^{ip \cdot X}, \qquad \zeta_{\mu} \equiv \lambda_{\mu} - (\lambda \cdot \widetilde{p})q_{\mu} . \tag{3.11}$$

Notice that, because $\lambda \cdot q = 0$, we may equivalently express ζ_{μ} in terms of p,

$$\zeta_{\mu} = \lambda_{\mu} - (\lambda \cdot p)q_{\mu}, \qquad \zeta \cdot p = 0, \qquad (3.12)$$

where it is manifest that ζ_{μ} is orthogonal to p_{μ} . This result (3.11) for the vertex operator for level-one states is exactly as expected. It is expressed entirely in terms of the physical polarization ζ_{μ} and the physical momentum p. Moreover, as is necessary for photons, we have found that $\zeta \cdot p = 0$. Notice that the vector q_{μ} , which was arbitrary, is not explicitly present in the vertex operator. It is only implicitly present, in that both λ_{μ} and q_{μ} determine ζ_{μ} .

Level-two. Let us now compute the vertex operators for the states at level two. There are two kinds of states: those with the first mode excited twice, $A_{-1}^i A_{-1}^j |0; \tilde{p}\rangle$, which corresponds to successively scattering two photons, each of momentum q, off of a tachyon, see figure 4(a), and those with the second mode excited once, $A_{-2}^i|0; \tilde{p}\rangle$, which corresponds to scattering a photon of momentum 2q off of a tachyon, see figure 4(b). We start with the latter,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-2} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} := \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} :\lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-2iq \cdot X(z)} :: e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} : \qquad (3.13)$$

As before, performing the OPE gives,

$$:\partial X^{\mu}(z) e^{-2iq \cdot X(z)} :: e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}:$$

$$= z^{-2\widetilde{p} \cdot q} \left(:\partial X^{\mu}(z) e^{-2iq \cdot X(z)} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}: - \frac{i\widetilde{p}^{\mu}}{z} : e^{-i2q \cdot X(z)} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}:\right) .$$
(3.14)

Using that $\tilde{p} \cdot q = 1$, and Taylor expanding X(z) to second order in z, we get for the vertex operator,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-2} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X}:=i:\lambda \cdot \partial^2 X e^{ip \cdot X}:+2:\lambda \cdot \partial X q \cdot \partial X e^{ip \cdot X}:$$
$$-i\lambda \cdot \widetilde{p}:q \cdot \partial^2 X e^{ip \cdot X}:-2\lambda \cdot \widetilde{p}:(q \cdot \partial X)^2 e^{ip \cdot X}:$$
(3.15)

where now $p_{\mu} = \tilde{p}_{\mu} - 2q_{\mu}$. Expressed in terms of ζ defined earlier by (3.12), we have

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-2} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X} := \left(i\zeta \cdot \partial^2 X + 2(\zeta \cdot \partial X)(q \cdot \partial X) \right) e^{ip \cdot X} .$$
(3.16)

If we wish, we can define, $\zeta_{\mu\nu} = \zeta_{\mu}q_{\nu} + \zeta_{\nu}q_{\mu}$, and write this vertex operator as,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-2} e^{i\vec{p}\cdot X}:= \left(i\zeta_{\mu}\partial^{2}X^{\mu} + \zeta_{\mu\nu}\partial X^{\mu}\partial X^{\nu}\right)e^{ip\cdot X}, \quad \zeta_{\mu\nu}p^{\nu} = \zeta_{\mu}, \quad \eta^{\mu\nu}\zeta_{\mu\nu} = p \cdot \zeta = 0.$$

$$(3.17)$$

In this form, the vertex operator has no explicit q dependence, except through its appearance in the polarizations. This form of the vertex operator is consistent with what one would find in the covariant construction of vertex operators, by imposing the Virasoro constraints, see appendix A.

The other states at level-two are of the form $(\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-1})(\lambda_1 \cdot A_{-1})|0; \tilde{p}\rangle$, see figure 4(a), with the vertex operator,

$$: \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-1} \ \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-1} \ e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}:$$
$$= \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} : \lambda_2 \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-iq \cdot X(z)}: \ \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi} : \lambda_1 \cdot \partial X(w) \ e^{-iq \cdot X(w)}:: \ e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}: \quad (3.18)$$

Physically, we are starting with a tachyon of momentum \tilde{p} , scattering a photon of momentum q off of it, placing the resulting state on-shell so as to be massless, and then scattering another photon of momentum q off of it, and placing the resulting string on-shell, at mass $M^2 = 2(N-1) = 2$. The contour integral over w, corresponding to the action of the first A_{-1} , is just what we got previously, and gives the vertex operator for a photon. Thus,

$$:\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-1} \ \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-1} \ e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} := \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} :\lambda_2 \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} : \ i : \zeta_1 \cdot \partial X(0) \ e^{i(\widetilde{p}-q) \cdot X(0)} :, \ (3.19)$$

where now $\zeta_1 = \lambda_1 - (\lambda \cdot \tilde{p})q$. We now just need to do the z integral. Performing the OPE gives,

$$: \lambda_2 \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} :: \zeta_1 \cdot \partial X(0) e^{i(\widetilde{p}-q) \cdot X(0)} :$$

$$= z^{-(\widetilde{p}-q) \cdot q} \left[: \lambda_2 \cdot \partial X(z) \zeta_1 \cdot \partial X(0) e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} e^{i(\widetilde{p}-q) \cdot X(0)} : -\left(\frac{\zeta_1 \cdot \lambda_2}{z^2} + \frac{i\lambda_2 \cdot (\widetilde{p}-q)}{z}\right) : e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} e^{i(\widetilde{p}-q) \cdot X(0)} : \right] \quad (3.20)$$

$$\overbrace{ \int -m_1 q}^{\widetilde{p}} \overbrace{ \int -m_1 q}^{\int p = \widetilde{p} - m_1 q}$$

Figure 5. Forming the state $\lambda \cdot A_{-m_1} | 0 \rangle$.

The factor out front, $z^{-(\tilde{p}-q)\cdot q}$, is from contracting the exponentials. Within the parenthesis, the first line comes from having no further contractions. On the second line, the first term is from contracting $\lambda_2 \cdot \partial X(z)$ with $\zeta_1 \cdot \partial X(0)$, while the second term comes from contracting $\lambda_2 \cdot \partial X(z)$ with $(\tilde{p}-q) \cdot X(0)$ in the exponential. We will see that the second term on the second line can be combined with the term on the first line, by defining ζ_2 . Proceeding, since only the simple pole contributes to the contour integral, we may pick it out by Taylor expanding,

$$e^{-iq \cdot X(z)} = e^{-iq \cdot X(0)} \left(1 - z \, iq \cdot \partial X(0) - i \frac{z^2}{2} q \cdot \partial^2 X(0) - \frac{z^2}{2} (q \cdot \partial X(0))^2 + \dots \right), \quad (3.21)$$

and using $\tilde{p} \cdot q = 1$ and $q^2 = 0$, along with $\lambda_1 \cdot q = \lambda_2 \cdot q = 0$, which implies $\zeta_1 \cdot \lambda_2 = \zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_2$. Thus we get for the vertex operator,

$$:\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-1} \ \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-1} \ e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X} := -\left[\zeta_2 \cdot \partial X \zeta_1 \cdot \partial X + \frac{1}{2}\zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_2 \left(iq \cdot \partial^2 X + (q \cdot \partial X)^2\right)\right] e^{ip \cdot X},$$
(3.22)

where

$$\zeta_1 = \lambda_1 - (\lambda_1 \cdot p)q, \quad \zeta_2 = \lambda_2 - (\lambda_2 \cdot p)q, \quad p = \tilde{p} - 2q.$$
(3.23)

In the form (3.22), the arbitrary vector q explicitly appears. However if we wish we can make its appearance only implicit, by writing the vertex operator in the form,

$$-\frac{1}{2}\left(i\xi_{\mu}\partial^{2}X^{\mu}+\xi_{\mu\nu}\partial X^{\mu}\partial X^{\nu}\right)e^{ip\cdot X}$$
(3.24)

where

$$\xi_{\mu} = \zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_2 \, q_{\mu} \,, \qquad \qquad \xi_{\mu\nu} = \zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_2 \, q_{\mu} q_{\nu} + \zeta_{1,\mu} \zeta_{2,\nu} + \zeta_{1,\nu} \zeta_{2,\mu} \,. \tag{3.25}$$

Furthermore, these polarization vectors satisfy $\xi_{\mu\nu}p^{\nu} = \xi_{\mu}$ and $\eta^{\mu\nu}\xi_{\mu\nu} = 2p^{\mu}\xi_{\mu} = -\zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_2$. As a result, the Virasoro constraints that a covariant vertex operator at level-two must obey, see eq. (A.8) in appendix A, are obeyed.

3.2 Level-N states

In this section we construct all the vertex operators at level N.

A single creation operator. We start by constructing the vertex operator for the state $\lambda \cdot A_{-m_1}|0;p\rangle$, see figure 5. We did this previously for $m_1 = 1$ and $m_1 = 2$. Here we do general m_1 . Applying the DDF A_{-m_1} given in (3.5) to the tachyon vertex operator, we must compute,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-m_1} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} := \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} : \lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-im_1 q \cdot X(z)} :: e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} : .$$
(3.26)

To evaluate the contour integral, we need to first evaluate the OPE, which is given by,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-m_1} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}:$$

$$= \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} z^{-m_1} \left(:\lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-im_1 q \cdot X(z)} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}: -\frac{i\lambda \cdot p}{z}: e^{-im_1 q \cdot X(z)} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}: \right),$$

$$(3.27)$$

where we made use of $p \cdot \tilde{q} = 1$.

Schur polynomials. To proceed, we will need to Taylor expand X(z) about X(0). More precisely, we need to Taylor expand the exponential of X(z), which will give rise to Schur polynomials. Indeed, the Schur polynomials can be defined through a Taylor expansion of the exponential of a series,

$$\exp\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} a_m z^m\right) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} S_m(a_1, \dots, a_m) z^m .$$
(3.28)

The left-hand side serves as the definition of the Schur polynomials $S_m(a_1, \ldots, a_m)$ appearing on the right-hand side. Equivalently, one may invert the expression through a contour integral,

$$S_m(a_1, \dots, a_m) = \oint_0 \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{w^{m+1}} \exp\left(\sum_{s=1}^m a_s w^s\right) .$$
 (3.29)

In our case, the series that what we have is the Taylor expansion of $X(z) = \sum_{r} \frac{z^{r}}{r!} \partial^{r} X(0)$. We therefore have,

$$e^{-im_1q \cdot X(z)} = \sum_{a=0}^{\infty} z^a S_a \left(-\frac{im_1}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X \right) e^{-im_1q \cdot X(0)} .$$
 (3.30)

Equivalently, inverting the expression through a contour integral,

$$S_m\left(-\frac{im_1}{r!}q\cdot\partial^r X\right) = \oint_0 \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{w^{m+1}} \exp\left(-im_1q\cdot\sum_{s=1}^m \frac{w^s}{s!}\partial^s X(0)\right) . \tag{3.31}$$

The sum over s on the right only needs to go up to s = m, however one can extend it to $s = \infty$ if one wishes. The Schur polynomial $S_m\left(-\frac{im_1}{r!}q \cdot \partial^r X\right)$ depends on m variables,

$$S_m\left(-\frac{im_1}{r!}q\cdot\partial^r X\right) \equiv S_m\left(-im_1q\cdot\partial X, \frac{-im_1}{2!}q\cdot\partial^2 X, \dots, \frac{-im_1}{m!}q\cdot\partial^m X\right), \quad (3.32)$$

and our notation on the left, with the r index, is shorthand for this. By simply performing the Taylor expansion in (3.30), we see that the first few Schur polynomials are,

$$S_0\left(-\frac{im_1}{r!}q\cdot\partial^r X\right) = 1$$

$$S_1\left(-\frac{im_1}{r!}q\cdot\partial^r X\right) = -im_1q\cdot\partial X$$

$$S_2\left(-\frac{im_1}{r!}q\cdot\partial^r X\right) = -\frac{1}{2}\left(im_1q\cdot\partial^2 X + m_1^2(q\cdot\partial X)^2\right) .$$
(3.33)

Returning to our construction of the vertex operator, the expression that we need to Taylor expand in the first term in (3.27) is a product $\partial X(z)$ and an exponential. Correspondingly, we do a double Taylor expansion,

$$\partial X^{\mu}(z)e^{-im_1q \cdot X(z)} = \sum_{a,b=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^{a+b}}{a!} \partial^{a+1} X^{\mu}(0) S_b\left(-\frac{im_1}{r!}q \cdot \partial^r X(0)\right) e^{-im_1q \cdot X(0)} .$$
(3.34)

The contour integral in (3.27) then pick out the terms with $a + b = m_1 - 1$. The vertex operator of the state $\lambda \cdot A_{-m_1}|0; \tilde{p}\rangle$ is thus,

$$: \lambda \cdot A_{-m_1} e^{i \widetilde{p} \cdot X} := \sum_{m=1}^{m_1} \frac{i}{(m-1)!} : \lambda \cdot \partial^m X S_{m_1-m} \left(-\frac{i m_1}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X \right) e^{i p \cdot X} :$$
$$+ : \lambda \cdot p S_{m_1} \left(-\frac{i m_1}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X \right) e^{i p \cdot X} :$$
(3.35)

where $p = \tilde{p} - m_1 q$. Using a property of Schur polynomials,

$$S_{m_1}(a_1,\ldots,a_{m_1}) = \sum_{m=1}^{m_1} \frac{m}{m_1} a_m S_{m_1-m}(a_1,\ldots,a_{m_1}), \qquad (3.36)$$

we can write the vertex operator in the more compact form,

$$: \lambda \cdot A_{-m_1} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X} := \sum_{m=1}^{m_1} \frac{i}{(m-1)!} \zeta \cdot \partial^m X S_{m_1-m} \left(-\frac{im_1}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X \right) e^{ip \cdot X} \equiv \zeta \cdot P_{m_1} e^{ip \cdot X}$$

$$(3.37)$$

where, as before, ζ_{μ} is given by (3.12), $\zeta_{\mu} = \lambda_{\mu} - (\lambda \cdot p)q_{\mu}$ and S_m was defined in (3.31). For $m_1 = 1$ and $m_1 = 2$, this gives back what we computed previously, (3.11) and (3.16), respectively.

Two creation operators. We now turn to states that are formed by two creation operators, $\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2} \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1} | 0; \tilde{p} \rangle$. We have already done this for the case of $m_2 = m_1 = 1$, see eq. (3.22). The procedure in this more general case is similar.

Starting with the tachyon vertex operator and acting twice with A_{-m} gives the vertex operator for these states,

$$: \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2} \ \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}:$$

$$= \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} : \lambda_2 \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-im_2 q \cdot X(z)}: \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi} : \lambda_1 \cdot \partial X(w) e^{-im_1 q \cdot X(w)}:: e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}:$$
(3.38)

For the first application of A_{-m_1} (the *w* integral) we may use the result (3.37),

$$: \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2} \ \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1} e^{i \vec{p} \cdot X(0)}:$$

$$= \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} : \lambda_2 \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-im_2 q \cdot X(z)}:$$

$$\times \sum_{m=1}^{m_1} : \frac{i}{(m-1)!} \zeta_1 \cdot \partial^m X(0) S_{m_1-m} \left(-\frac{im_1}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X(0)\right) e^{i(\vec{p}-m_1 q) \cdot X(0)}:$$
(3.39)

where $\zeta_1 = \lambda_1 - (\lambda_1 \cdot \tilde{p})q$. In computing the remaining OPE, the contractions we need to account for are $\lambda_2 \cdot \zeta_1 = \zeta_2 \cdot \zeta_1$ and $\lambda_2 \cdot (\tilde{p} - m_1 q) = \lambda_2 \cdot p$. The other possible contraction, with the arguments of the Schur polynomial, is zero because $\lambda_2 \cdot q = 0$. Hence we have,

$$: \lambda_{2} \cdot A_{-m_{2}} \lambda_{1} \cdot A_{-m_{1}} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}:$$

$$= \sum_{m=1}^{m_{1}} \frac{i}{(m-1)!} \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} z^{-m_{2}} \qquad (3.40)$$

$$\times \left[: \lambda_{2} \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-im_{2}q \cdot X(z)} \zeta_{1} \cdot \partial^{m} X(0) S_{m_{1}-m} \left(-\frac{im_{1}}{r!} q \cdot \partial^{r} X(0) \right) e^{i(\widetilde{p}-m_{1}q) \cdot X(0)}:$$

$$- \left(\zeta_{1} \cdot \zeta_{2} \frac{m!}{z^{m+1}} + \frac{i\lambda_{2} \cdot \widetilde{p}}{z} \right) : e^{-im_{2}q \cdot X(z)} S_{m_{1}-m} \left(-\frac{im_{1}}{r!} q \cdot \partial^{r} X(0) \right) e^{i(\widetilde{p}-m_{1}q) \cdot X(0)}:$$

As before, Taylor expanding in z in order to pick out the simple pole, we may write the result in the compact form,

$$: \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2} \ \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1} \ e^{i \widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} := (\zeta_2 \cdot P_{m_2} \ \zeta_1 \cdot P_{m_1} + \zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_2 \ \mathbb{S}_{m_1, m_2}) \ e^{i p \cdot X}$$
(3.41)

where $\zeta \cdot P_n$ was defined in (3.37), and $\zeta_i = \lambda_i - (\lambda_i \cdot p)q$ and $p = \tilde{p} - (m_1 + m_2)q$, and

$$S_{m_1,m_2} = -i \sum_{m=1}^{m_1} m \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} \frac{1}{z^{m_2+m+1}} \times \sum_{a=0}^{\infty} z^a S_a \left(-\frac{im_2}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X(0) \right) S_{m_1-m} \left(-\frac{im_1}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X(0) \right) .$$
(3.42)

Performing the contour integral sets $a = m_2 + m$, and we get,

$$\mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2} = \sum_{m=1}^{m_1} m \, S_{m_1-m} \left(-\frac{im_1}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X(0) \right) \, S_{m_2+m} \left(-\frac{im_2}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X(0) \right) \tag{3.43}$$

One can see that in the case of $m_1 = m_2 = 1$, the general result (3.41) reduces to what we found previously in (3.22).

Multiple creation operators. One finds that the vertex operators involving three creation operators is a natural generalization of the one with two creation operators (3.41) that was just found,

$$: \lambda_{3} \cdot A_{-m_{3}} \lambda_{2} \cdot A_{-m_{2}} \lambda_{1} \cdot A_{-m_{1}} e^{i \vec{p} \cdot X(0)}:$$

$$= (\zeta_{3} \cdot P_{m_{3}} \zeta_{2} \cdot P_{m_{2}} \zeta_{1} \cdot P_{m_{1}} + \zeta_{1} \cdot \zeta_{2} \mathbb{S}_{m_{1},m_{2}} \zeta_{3} \cdot P_{m_{3}}$$

$$+ \zeta_{1} \cdot \zeta_{3} \mathbb{S}_{m_{1},m_{3}} \zeta_{2} \cdot P_{m_{2}} + \zeta_{2} \cdot \zeta_{3} \mathbb{S}_{m_{2},m_{3}} \zeta_{1} \cdot P_{m_{1}}) e^{i \vec{p} \cdot X} .$$
(3.44)

Analogously, the result for a general vertex operator is fairly clear,

$$\begin{split} : \lambda_k \cdot A_{-m_k} \cdots \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2} \ \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1} \ e^{i \widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} \ : \\ &= (\text{sum over any number of all possible Wick contractions}) e^{i p \cdot X} \\ & \text{where} \\ & \text{if contract: } \langle \lambda_i \cdot A_{-m_i} \ \lambda_j \cdot A_{-m_j} \rangle \rightarrow \zeta_i \cdot \zeta_j \ \mathbb{S}_{m_i,m_j} \\ & \text{if don't contract: } \lambda_i \cdot A_{-m_i} \rightarrow \zeta_i \cdot P_{m_i} \,, \end{split}$$

where $\zeta \cdot P_m$ was given in (3.37) and \mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2} was given in (3.43).

In more precise notation [42],

$$: \lambda_k \cdot A_{-m_k} \cdots \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2} \ \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1} \ e^{ip \cdot X(0)} :$$
$$= e^{ip \cdot X} \sum_{a=1}^{\lfloor k/2 \rfloor} \sum_{\pi} \prod_{l=1}^a (\zeta_{\pi(2l-1)} \cdot \zeta_{\pi(2l)}) \ \mathbb{S}_{m_{\pi(2l-1)}, m_{\pi(2l)}} \prod_{q=2a+1}^k \zeta_q \cdot P_{m_{\pi(q)}}$$
(3.45)

where we are summing over a (the number of contractions), $\lfloor k/2 \rfloor$ denotes all integers less than or equal to k/2, and the sum over π is over all permutations π that give non-equivalent terms. By non-equivalent terms we mean, e.g. if a = 2, then the sum over l is from l = 1to l = 2, and includes the three terms,

$$\zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_2 \ \zeta_3 \cdot \zeta_4 \ \mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2} \mathbb{S}_{m_3,m_4} + \zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_3 \ \zeta_2 \cdot \zeta_4 \ \mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_3} \mathbb{S}_{m_2,m_4} + \zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_4 \ \zeta_2 \cdot \zeta_3 \ \mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_4} \mathbb{S}_{m_2,m_3} .$$
(3.46)

The number of permutations of 4 is 4! = 24, however since $\mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2} = \mathbb{S}_{m_2,m_1}$ we must divide by a factor of 2 for each of the two S that we have, and another factor of two from exchanging the two S. Thus, in total there are $4!/2^3 = 4$ distinct terms, as we clearly see above.

Derivation of eq. (3.45). Let us now demonstrate that (3.45) is correct. This requires only a slight generalization of the argument used in deriving the vertex operators with two creation operators. Let us compute the vertex operator corresponding to the action of a creation operator acting on some operator f,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-m} f(\zeta_i \cdot \partial^r X, q \cdot \partial^r X) e^{ip \cdot X(0)}:$$

= $\oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} : \lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-imq \cdot X(z)}:: f(\zeta_i \cdot \partial^r X(0), q \cdot \partial^r X(0)) e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}:$ (3.47)

where we have used the definition of A_{-m} . There are two possible Wick contractions: a contraction of $\lambda \cdot \partial X$ with f, and a contraction of $\lambda \cdot \partial X$ with $\tilde{p} \cdot X$. Thus,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-m} f(\zeta_{i} \cdot \partial^{r} X, q \cdot \partial^{r} X) e^{ip \cdot X}:$$

$$= \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} \frac{1}{z^{m}} \Big[:\lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-imq \cdot X(z)} f e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}:$$

$$+ \langle \lambda \cdot \partial X(z) i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0) \rangle :e^{-imq \cdot X(z)} f e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)}: + \langle \lambda \cdot \partial X(z) f \rangle e^{-imq \cdot X(z)} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} \Big]$$

$$(3.48)$$

We trivially evaluate the first correlation function on the second line, rewriting the result as,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-m} f(\zeta_{i} \cdot \partial^{r} X, q \cdot \partial^{r} X) e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X}:$$

$$= \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} \frac{1}{z^{m}} \left(:\lambda \cdot \partial X(z) e^{-imq \cdot X(z)} f e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} : -\frac{i\lambda \cdot p}{z} : e^{-imq \cdot X(z)} f e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} : \right)$$

$$+ \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi} \frac{1}{z^{m}} \langle \lambda \cdot \partial X(z) f \rangle e^{-imq \cdot X(z)} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(0)} . \qquad (3.49)$$

Comparing the first line with what we had when evaluating $: \lambda \cdot A_{-m} e^{i \widetilde{p} \cdot X} :$ in (3.27), we see that it is identical, except for the extra factor of f. To evaluate the second line, we note that,

$$f = \prod_{i} \zeta_{i} \cdot P_{m_{i}} g(q \cdot \partial^{r} X) , \qquad (3.50)$$

where g is some function. Since $\lambda \cdot q = 0$, the g term has vanishing contraction with $\lambda \cdot \partial X$. Thus,

$$\langle \lambda \cdot \partial X(z) f \rangle = \sum_{j} \langle \lambda \cdot \partial X(z) \zeta_j \cdot P_{n_j}(0) \rangle \prod_{i \neq j} \zeta_i \cdot P_{m_i}(0) g(q \cdot \partial^r X) .$$
(3.51)

Using (3.42), we have that, after evaluating the integral over z, the contraction will turn into \mathbb{S}_{m,m_i} . Thus,

$$:\lambda \cdot A_{-m} f(\zeta_i \cdot \partial^r X, q \cdot \partial^r X) e^{i\vec{p} \cdot X}:$$

$$= \zeta \cdot P_m \prod_i \zeta_i \cdot P_{m_i} g(q \cdot \partial^r X) e^{i\vec{p} \cdot X} + \sum_j \mathbb{S}_{m,m_j} \prod_{i \neq j} \zeta_i \cdot P_{m_i} g(q \cdot \partial^r X) e^{i\vec{p} \cdot X}.$$

$$(3.52)$$

So, as claimed, we have a sum over all Wick contractions. The result (3.45) then follows. This completes the evaluation of the general DDF vertex operator.

The generic state. We have discussed the construction of any excited string state. However, for a string of given mass, the number of different states grows exponentially with the mass. It is useful to have a sense of what the typical state looks like. In Dspace-time dimensions, there are D-2 independent polarization vectors and a state can be written as,

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n_1} (\lambda_k^1 \cdot A_{-1}) \prod_{k=1}^{n_2} (\lambda_k^2 \cdot A_{-2}) \cdots \prod_{k=1}^{n_r} (\lambda_k^r \cdot A_{-r}) |0\rangle, \qquad N = \sum_{m=1}^r mn_m .$$
(3.53)

In appendix D we show that, in the large N limit, the typical (or equivalently, average) occupation number n_m of mode m takes the form of a Bose-Einstein distribution $\langle n_m \rangle = \frac{1}{e^{m/T}-1}$, with a temperature $T = \frac{1}{\pi} \sqrt{\frac{6N}{D-2}}$.

3.3 Completeness of operators

The final thing that we need to show is that the construction described above does in fact generate all the excited states. This is what we do in this section.

Recall that, while classifying excited states in covariant gauge is cumbersome, it is straightforward in light-cone gauge. In light-cone gauge one chooses X^+ to be the time variable. In the classical description, this amounts to setting the oscillators coefficients α_n^+ (see eq. (2.2)) to be zero for all $n \neq 0$. The state is then completely determined by the specification of the α_n^i with transverse *i*, as the Virasoro constraints fix α_n^- in terms of the α_n^i . The states we have been working with are formed with products of $\lambda \cdot A_{-m}$, the left-hand side of (3.45). Since $\lambda \cdot q = 0$ and we can add any multiple of *q* to λ , see (3.6), the polarization λ has D-2 independent components, which is the same as the number of transverse directions in light-cone gauge. Thus, we have the correct number of states.

We formed the general vertex operator by starting with a tachyon of momentum \tilde{p} and repeatedly scattering photons off of it. All the photons had momentum proportional to some arbitrarily chosen vector q, which was required to satisfy $\tilde{p} \cdot q$. We need to show that this is sufficient to generate any momentum p. This is easy to see. Let us work



Figure 6. When forming several excited string states with momenta p_i , we start with tachyons with momenta \tilde{p}_i and add photons, all of which have momenta in the same direction.

in light-cone coordinates, and go to the frame in which q points in the minus direction, $q = (q^+, q^-, q^i) = (0, q^-, \vec{0})$. Since q is null, $q^2 = 0$, this is possible. The tachyon has momentum $\tilde{p} = (\tilde{p}^+, \tilde{p}^-, \tilde{p}^i)$, which is arbitrary, subject to the mass-shell condition $\tilde{p}^2 = 2$. Imposing that $q \cdot \tilde{p} = 1$ allows us to fix the magnitude of q,

$$q = -\frac{1}{\tilde{p}^{+}}(0, 1, \vec{0}), \qquad \tilde{p} = (\tilde{p}^{+}, \tilde{p}^{-}, \tilde{p}^{i}), \qquad \tilde{p}^{2} = 2.$$
(3.54)

We can view \tilde{p}^+, \tilde{p}^i as fully specifying \tilde{p} , with the remaining component, \tilde{p}^- , fixed through the mass shell condition; the components \tilde{p}^+, \tilde{p}^i can be anything. By adding an arbitrary multiple of q to \tilde{p} , we get a vector in which the minus component is now also arbitrary, so we have formed an arbitrary D-dimensional vector. If we take the particular vector $p = \tilde{p} - Nq$, then $p^2 = \tilde{p}^2 - 2N\tilde{p} \cdot q = -2(N-1)$. So, we have shown that we can achieve any excited string state momentum p by scattering photons off of a tachyon, where all the photons have momenta in the same direction. Moreover, if we are forming multiple heavy string states, with different momenta, photons in the same direction are added to all of them. In other words, if we have two heavy strings with momenta p_1 and p_2 , then we would form them by starting with tachyons of momenta \tilde{p}_1 and \tilde{p}_2 and scattering photons off of them with momenta that are multiples of $q_1 = -\frac{1}{\tilde{p}_1^+}(0, 1, \vec{0})$ and $q_2 = -\frac{1}{\tilde{p}_2^+}(0, 1, \vec{0})$, respectively. See figure 6.

3.4 Summary

We end with a summary of the results for the vertex operator of an excited string state.

The vertex operator for a tachyon of momentum p is $e^{ip \cdot X}$. The vertex operator for an excited string of momentum p is some polynomial of derivatives of X, $\partial^k X^\mu$, multiplying $e^{ip \cdot X}$. Schematically,

$$V = e^{ip \cdot X} \sum_{\{m_r\}} c_{\{m_r\}} \prod_r \partial^{m_r} X^{\mu_r} , \qquad (3.55)$$

with some coefficients $c_{\{m_r\}}$, which can be thought of as the polarizations. At level N, corresponding to a string of mass $M^2 = 2(N-1)$, we include all terms with a total of N derivatives. For instance, at level two, the vertex operator is of the form, $(i\xi_{\mu}\partial^2 X^{\mu} + \xi_{\mu\nu}\partial X^{\mu}\partial X^{\nu}) e^{ip\cdot X}$. Imposing the Virasoro constraints gives sets of constraints that the polarizations must satisfy. For the first few levels these constraints are worked out

in appendix A. For general level N, the vertex operator is a superposition of a large number of terms, with a large number of nontrivial constraints among the coefficients. Writing the operator in this form is neither trivial nor intuitive.

The DDF construction of vertex operators provides a more physical and systematic procedure. The coefficients $c_{\{m_r\}}$ mentioned above are all expressed in terms of a null vector q which satisfies $p \cdot q = 1$,¹² and polarizations λ_i which have nonzero norm and are orthogonal to q, $\lambda_i \cdot q = 0$. The vertex operator is expressed as a polynomial involving $q \cdot \partial^m X$ and $\zeta_i \cdot \partial^m X$ where $\zeta_i^{\mu} = \lambda_i^{\mu} - (p \cdot q)q^{\mu}$. The precise form of the vertex operator is given in (3.45), with $\zeta \cdot P_n$ (a function of $q \cdot \partial^m X$ and $\zeta_i \cdot \partial^m X$) given in (3.37) and \mathbb{S}_{n_1,n_2} (a function of $q \cdot \partial^m X$) given in (3.43).

Physically, the vertex operators are formed by starting with a tachyon of momentum \tilde{p} and scattering photons off of it (i.e. repeatedly taking the OPE with photon vertex operators) where the action of $\lambda \cdot A_{-m}$ corresponds to a photon with polarization λ and momentum -mq where $q \cdot \tilde{p} = 1$. The ζ_{μ} can be viewed as the polarization vectors of the excited string. Doing the scattering/OPE procedure once gives a vertex operator of the form (3.37). Doing the procedure twice gives the vertex operator (3.41), doing it three times gives (3.44), and doing it k times gives (3.45).

4 Amplitude with one excited string: formalism

In this section we compute the scattering amplitude involving one arbitrary excited string state and any number of tachyons.

The excited state is created with the DDF vertex operator, as described in the previous section: the state $\prod_k (\lambda_k \cdot A_{-m_k}) |0; \tilde{p}\rangle$ can be thought of as having been built up by successively scattering photons of polarization λ_k and momenta $-m_k q$ off of a tachyon, where q is some chosen null vector satisfying $q \cdot \tilde{p} = 1$ (and the photon's polarization is orthogonal to its momentum, $\lambda \cdot q = 0$).

We start in section 4.1 with the special case in which all the DDF photons have the same polarization which squares to zero, $\lambda^2 = 0$ (this can be achieved by, for instance, having transverse circular polarization). In this special case the equations for the amplitude simplify. In section 4.2 we compute the amplitude in the general case, with arbitrary polarizations for the DDF photons.

Let $V(z_1)$ be the vertex operator for the excited string with momentum p_1 . All the other strings are tachyons with momentum p_i , worldsheet coordinate z_i , and vertex operator $e^{ip_i \cdot X(z_i)}$. There are *n* tachyons, with index *i* running from 2 to n+1. The amplitude is then,

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int dz \, \langle V(z_1) \prod_{i \neq 1} e^{i p_i \cdot X(z_i)} \rangle \,, \quad dz \equiv \prod_i dz_i \,. \tag{4.1}$$

We wrote down the general vertex operator, in schematic form, in (3.55). The vertex operator is given by a sum of products of derivatives of X. Evaluating the correlation

¹²The appearance of an arbitrarily chosen vector q in the expression for the vertex operator may initially seem odd, but it is no different than the appearance of an arbitrary polarization vector in the vertex operator. Expressed in covariant form, the q are part of defining the polarization tensors. See e.g. (3.25).

function appearing in the amplitude is straightforward, once one recognizes that the Wick contractions can be perform successively, for each X. Namely, one has that,

$$\langle \partial^n X^{\mu}(z_1) \prod_{i \neq 1} e^{i p_i \cdot X(z_i)} \cdots \rangle = \langle \prod_{i \neq 1} e^{i p_i \cdot X(z_i)} \cdots \rangle \sum_{i \neq 1} \langle \partial^n X^{\mu}(z_1) (i p_i \cdot X(z_i)) \rangle, \qquad (4.2)$$

as one can see by using the Taylor expansion of the exponential. Using the form of the vertex operator (3.55) we have that the correlation function is,

$$\langle V(z_1)\prod_{i\neq 1}e^{ip_i\cdot X(z_i)}\rangle = \prod_{i< j} z_{ij}^{p_i\cdot p_j}\sum_{\{n_r\}} c_{\{n_r\}}\prod_r \left(\sum_{i\neq 1} \langle \partial^{n_r} X^{\mu_r}(ip_i\cdot X(z_i))\rangle\right).$$
(4.3)

Using that the Wick contraction is given by,

$$\langle \partial^k X^\mu(z_1) X^\nu(z_2) \rangle = \eta^{\mu\nu} \frac{(k-1)!}{z_{21}^k},$$
(4.4)

we have for the amplitude (4.1),

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int dz \prod_{i < j} z_{ij}^{p_i \cdot p_j} \sum_{\{n_r\}} c_{\{n_r\}} \prod_r \left(\sum_{i \neq 1} i p_i^{\mu_r} \frac{(n_r - 1)!}{z_{i1}^{n_r}} \right) .$$
(4.5)

This warmup was useful as a way to see how to perform the Wick contractions. We saw that going from the vertex operator to the amplitude essentially amounts to replacing,

$$\partial^m X^\mu(z_1) \to i(m-1)! \sum_{i \neq 1} \frac{p_i^\mu}{z_{i1}^m}$$
 (4.6)

We now move on to using the actual vertex operator, rather than just its schematic form.

4.1 A special choice of polarizations

In this section we give the explicit form of the amplitude, for the simple case in which all the DDF photons forming the excited state have the same polarization λ ,

$$(\lambda \cdot A_{-1})^{n_1} (\lambda \cdot A_{-2})^{n_2} \cdots (\lambda \cdot A_{-k})^{n_k} |0\rangle, \qquad N = \sum_{i=1}^k in_i .$$
(4.7)

Furthermore, we take the polarization to square to zero, $\lambda^2 = 0.^{13}$ An example of such a polarization is, for instance, circular polarization with two nonzero components, $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(1, \pm i)$. (It is actually not important if all the photons have the same polarization: to get a simplification, what we really need is for the polarizations of all the photons to square to zero and be orthogonal, and the simplest way to achieve that is with one λ for which $\lambda^2 = 0$.) With $\lambda^2 = 0$, the form of the vertex operator corresponding to the state (4.7) is relatively simple, and was found earlier in (3.37),

$$: \lambda \cdot A_{-n} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X} := \sum_{m=1}^{n} \frac{i}{(m-1)!} \zeta \cdot \partial^m X S_{n-m} \left(-\frac{in}{r!} q \cdot \partial^r X \right) e^{ip \cdot X}, \qquad (4.8)$$

¹³The polarization is always required to satisfy $|\lambda|^2 = 1$; we are taking $\lambda^2 = 0$.

where the Schur polynomial that appears was defined in (3.31). Using the above results, the amplitude for the scattering of the state (4.7) with tachyons is,

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int dz \, \exp\left(\mathcal{L}\right) \,, \tag{4.9}$$

where

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i < j} p_i \cdot p_j \log z_{ij} + \sum_{m=1}^k n_m \log(-\Sigma_m), \qquad (4.10)$$

and

$$\Sigma_n = \sum_{m=1}^n \left(\sum_{j \neq 1} \frac{p_j \cdot \zeta}{z_{j1}^m} \right) S_{n-m} \left(n \sum_{i \neq 1} \frac{p_i \cdot q}{s \, z_{i1}^s} \right), \tag{4.11}$$

where p_1 is the momentum of the excited string and p_i , with $i \ge 2$, are the momenta of the tachyons. The amplitude also has a momentum conservation delta function which we suppressed, $(2\pi)^D \delta(\sum_i p_i)$. The result is expressed in term of Schur polynomials, however in this form it appears unnecessarily complicated. In particular, we may use the contour integral representation of the Schur polynomial given in (3.29) to write this as,

$$S_m\left(n\sum_{i\neq 1}\frac{p_i \cdot q}{s\,z_{i1}^s}\right) = \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{w^{m+1}} \prod_{i\neq 1} \left(1 - \frac{w}{z_{i1}}\right)^{-np_i \cdot q}, \qquad (4.12)$$

where inside the integral representation of the Schur polynomial we extended the sum to infinity and performed the sum,

$$\sum_{s=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i \neq 1} \frac{n p_i \cdot q}{s \, z_{i1}^s} w^s = -\sum_{i \neq 1} n \, p_i \cdot q \, \log\left(1 - \frac{w}{z_{i1}}\right) \,. \tag{4.13}$$

If we wish, we may now perform the sum over m appearing in Σ_n ,¹⁴

$$\Sigma_n = -\oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{w^n} \left(\sum_{j \neq 1} \frac{p_j \cdot \zeta}{w - z_{j1}} \right) \prod_{i \neq 1} \left(1 - \frac{w}{z_{i1}} \right)^{-np_i \cdot q} .$$

$$(4.14)$$

The form of the amplitude as written is acceptable, but it is not optimal. In particular, the integrand in the amplitude must have SL_2 invariance of the z_i , as we discussed earlier in section 2. In the current form, the SL_2 invariance is not manifest. In order to make it manifest, we should rewrite the amplitude in terms of SL_2 -invariant cross-ratios. As we will momentarily show, upon doing this we find the amplitude to be (4.9) with¹⁵

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{1 < i < j} p_i \cdot p_j \log \frac{z_{ij} z_{1a} z_{1b}}{z_{1i} z_{1j} z_{ab}} + \sum_{m=1}^k n_m \log(-\Sigma'_m) + \left(\sum_{i \neq 1} \log \frac{z_{1a} z_{1b}}{z_{1i}^2 z_{ab}} + \log \frac{z_{ab}}{z_{1a} z_{1b}}\right), \quad (4.15)$$

¹⁴In performing the sum, we obtain a factor of $\frac{1-(z_{i1}/w)^n}{w-z_{i1}}$. We discard the 1 in the numerator, since its contribution will vanish after the contour integral is done.

¹⁵The last term in parenthesis in (4.15) is subdominant at large N.

where a and b are any distinct indices (chosen out of the indices labeling the tachyons) and,

$$\Sigma'_{n} = \sum_{m=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{j \neq 1, a} p_{j} \cdot \zeta R_{j}^{m} \right) S_{n-m} \left(\frac{n}{s} \sum_{i \neq 1, a} p_{i} \cdot q R_{i}^{s} \right), \qquad R_{i} = \frac{z_{ai} z_{1b}}{z_{1i} z_{ab}} .$$
(4.16)

Equivalently, using the integral representation of the Schur polynomial,

$$\Sigma'_{n} = \sum_{j \neq 1, a} p_{j} \cdot \zeta R_{j} \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{w^{-n}}{1 - wR_{j}} \prod_{i \neq 1, a} (1 - wR_{i})^{-n p_{i} \cdot q} .$$
(4.17)

Notice that $R_a = 0$ and $R_b = 1$.

Derivation. Let us derive the form of the amplitude given in (4.15). Starting with the "tachyon" piece of \mathcal{L} in (4.10), we use momentum conservation to eliminate p_1 ,

$$\sum_{i < j} p_i \cdot p_j \log z_{ij} = \sum_{1 < i < j} p_i \cdot p_j \log \frac{z_{ij}}{z_{1i} z_{1j}} - 2 \sum_{i \neq 1} \log z_{1i} .$$
(4.18)

Using momentum conservation again, $p_1^2 = (\sum_{i \neq 1} p_i)^2$, as well as the mass-shell condition, we have that

$$-2(N-1) = p_1^2 = (\sum_{i \neq 1} p_i)^2 = 2 \sum_{1 < i < j} p_i \cdot p_j + 2n, \qquad (4.19)$$

where n is the number of tachyons. We may solve for $p_a \cdot p_b$, with a and b of our choosing,

$$p_a \cdot p_b = -\sum_{\substack{1 < i < j \\ (i,j) \neq (a,b)}} p_i \cdot p_j - (N - 1 + n) .$$
(4.20)

Using this to eliminate $p_a \cdot p_b$, we get,

$$\sum_{i < j} p_i \cdot p_j \log z_{ij} = \sum_{\substack{1 < i < j \\ (i,j) \neq (a,b)}} p_i \cdot p_j \log \frac{z_{ij} z_{1a} z_{1b}}{z_{1i} z_{1j} z_{ab}} + \left(\sum_{i \neq 1} \log \frac{z_{1a} z_{1b}}{z_{1i}^2 z_{ab}} + \log \frac{z_{ab}}{z_{1a} z_{1b}}\right) - N \log \frac{z_{ab}}{z_{1a} z_{1b}} .$$
 (4.21)

The first term is manifestly SL_2 invariant, the second term combines with the measure to give something SL_2 invariant (see footnote 10), and the final term will be absorbed into the Σ_n . In particular, we define,

$$\Sigma_n' = \left(\frac{z_{ab}}{z_{1a}z_{1b}}\right)^{-n} \Sigma_n \ . \tag{4.22}$$

Our goal now is to write Σ'_n in a form in which it is manifestly SL_2 invariant. To do this, we note that as a result of momentum conservation and $p_1 \cdot \zeta = 0$, we may eliminate $p_a \cdot \zeta = -\sum_{i \neq 1,a} p_i \cdot \zeta$. Applying this to Σ_n given in (4.14) we get,

$$\Sigma_n = \sum_{j \neq 1,a} p_j \cdot \zeta \frac{z_{aj}}{z_{j1} z_{a1}} \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{w^n} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{w}{z_{j1}}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{w}{z_{a1}}} \prod_{i \neq 1} \left(1 - \frac{w}{z_{i1}} \right)^{-np_i \cdot q} .$$
(4.23)

Next, we change integration variables to $w \to z_{a1}/w$, and use $\sum_{i \neq 1} p_i \cdot q = -1$ (a consequence of momentum conservation and that $p_1 \cdot q = 1$) to get,

$$\Sigma_n = -\sum_{j \neq 1, a} p_j \cdot \zeta \frac{z_{aj}}{z_{j1} z_{a1}} \frac{1}{z_{a1}^{n-1}} \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{w - \frac{z_{a1}}{z_{j1}}} \frac{1}{w - 1} \prod_{i \neq 1} \left(w - \frac{z_{a1}}{z_{i1}} \right)^{-np_i \cdot q} .$$
(4.24)

We see that the term involving w to a power disappeared - a result of SL₂ invariance. Finally, we change variables $w \to 1 + \frac{z_{ab}}{z_{b1}w}$, and obtain the claimed result, (4.17).

4.2 General polarization

We take the most general state, with the DDF photons taking any allowed polarizations $\lambda_i \cdot q = 0$,

$$\lambda_k \cdot A_{-m_k} \cdots \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2} \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1} |0\rangle, \qquad N = \sum m_i . \tag{4.25}$$

The vertex operator for this state was given in (3.45). The amplitude involving this state and any number of tachyons is given by,

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int dz \, \exp\left(\mathcal{L}\right) \,, \tag{4.26}$$

where

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i < j} p_i \cdot p_j \log z_{ij} + \log \left(\sum_{\rho=1}^{\lfloor k/2 \rfloor} \sum_{\pi} \prod_{l=1}^{\rho} (\zeta_{\pi(2l-1)} \cdot \zeta_{\pi(2l)}) \mathbb{S}_{m_{\pi(2l-1)}, m_{\pi(2l)}} \prod_{q=2\rho+1}^{k} (-\Sigma_{m_{\pi q}}(\zeta_q)) \right).$$
(4.27)

where $\Sigma_m(\zeta)$ was defined in (4.11) and $\mathbb{S}_{n,m}$ now refers not to the operator in (3.43), but rather its contraction with $e^{i\sum p_i \cdot X(z_i)}$,

$$\mathbb{S}_{m,n} = \sum_{r=1}^{n} r \, S_{m+r} \left(m \sum_{i \neq 1} \frac{p_i \cdot q}{s \, z_{i1}^s} \right) S_{n-r} \left(n \sum_{i \neq 1} \frac{p_i \cdot q}{s \, z_{i1}^s} \right) \,. \tag{4.28}$$

As in section 4.1, we would like to rewrite the amplitude in an SL_2 invariant form. Doing this gives,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{1 < i < j} p_i \cdot p_j \log \frac{z_{ij} z_{1a} z_{1b}}{z_{1i} z_{1j} z_{ab}} + \left(\sum_{i \neq 1, a, b} \log \frac{z_{1a} z_{1b}}{z_{1i}^2 z_{ab}} + \log \frac{z_{ab}}{z_{1a} z_{1b}} \right) + \log \left(\sum_{\rho=1}^{\lfloor k/2 \rfloor} \sum_{\pi} \prod_{l=1}^{\rho} (\zeta_{\pi(2l-1)} \cdot \zeta_{\pi(2l)}) \, \mathbb{S}'_{m_{\pi(2l-1)}, m_{\pi(2l)}} \prod_{q=2\rho+1}^{k} (-\Sigma'_{m_{\pi q}}(\zeta_q)) \right) \,, \quad (4.29)$$

where a and b are any distinct indices (chosen out of the n indices labeling the tachyons) and Σ'_n was defined in terms of Σ_n in (4.22) and explicitly given in (4.17), while $S'_{m,n}$ is defined by

$$\mathbb{S}'_{m,n} = \left(\frac{z_{ab}}{z_{1a}z_{1b}}\right)^{-n-m} \mathbb{S}_{m,n} \ . \tag{4.30}$$

We still need to write $S'_{m,n}$ in a form which makes the SL₂ invariance manifest. By using the integral representation of the Schur polynomial (4.12), performing the sum over r, and doing a change of integration variables, analogous to what we did in the derivation of Σ'_n , we get,

$$\mathbb{S}'_{m,n} = \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dv}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{(v-w)^2} \frac{1}{w^m v^n} \prod_{i \neq 1,a} (1-wR_i)^{-mp_i \cdot q} \prod_{j \neq 1,a} (1-vR_j)^{-np_j \cdot q} , \quad (4.31)$$

where the cross-ratio of the points, R_i , was given in (4.16). We may equivalently write this in terms of the Schur polynomials,

$$\mathbb{S}'_{m,n} = \sum_{r=1}^{n} r \, S_{m+r} \left(m \sum_{i \neq 1, a} \frac{p_i \cdot q}{s} R_i^s \right) S_{n-r} \left(n \sum_{i \neq 1, a} \frac{p_i \cdot q}{s} R_i^s \right) \,. \tag{4.32}$$

Summary. Let us summarize where we currently stand. We have computed the amplitude involving the most general excited state and any number of tachyons. The result is (4.29), and the various terms appearing in this expression are defined in this section and in the previous one. The expression is clearly involved. The amplitude simplifies in the special case when the dot product of all the polarizations vanishes, in which case (4.29) turns into the expression (4.15) found in section 4.1.

Another special case is an excited state involving only one excited mode $(\lambda \cdot A_{-k})^n$. In this case the combinatorial sum in (4.29) simplifies and we find,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{1 < i < j} p_i \cdot p_j \log \frac{z_{ij} z_{1a} z_{1b}}{z_{1i} z_{1j} z_{ab}} + \left(\sum_{i \neq 1, a, b} \log \frac{z_{1a} z_{1b}}{z_{1i}^2 z_{ab}} + \log \frac{z_{ab}}{z_{1a} z_{1b}}\right) + n! \sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \frac{(\Sigma'_k)^{n-2r}}{(n-2r)!} \frac{1}{r!} \left(\frac{\lambda \cdot \lambda}{2} \, \mathbb{S}'_{k,k}\right)^r$$
(4.33)

A special case of this would be exciting the mode k = 1, the leading Regge trajectory.

This is as far as we can go without specifying the number of tachyons. In section 5 we will specialize to amplitudes with one excited string and two tachyons, and one excited string and three tachyons, and give more explicit expressions.

5 Amplitude with one excited string: properties

5.1 Two tachyons and one excited string

In this section we compute the amplitude for an excited string to decay into two tachyons, as shown in figure 7.

As was discussed in section 3, the excited string is formed by repeatedly scattering photons of momenta -mq off of an initial tachyon, where q is a null vector of our choosing, provided $p \cdot q = 1$, where p is the momentum of the string. Here m is an integer, and to create a state in which mode m of the string is excited n_m times, we send in n_m photons with momentum -mq. The polarizations λ of these DDF photons are transverse to their momentum, $\lambda \cdot q = 0$. For simplicity, we first discuss the case in which all the photons have the same polarization λ . (The general case will be discussed later; the chaos features are unchanged.) With one polarization, the excited state is uniquely specified by the



Figure 7. (a) A spacetime diagram of heavy (highly excited) string of momentum p_1 decaying into two tachyons of momenta p_2 and p_3 . (b) The spatial plane of the decay process. The tachyons leave at angle θ , see (5.3). (c) The heavy string state (5.1), with momentum p_1 , is in turn formed by repeatedly scattering DDF photons of momenta -mq a total n_m times (for m = 1, 2, 3, ...) off of an initial tachyon of momentum \tilde{p}_1 . The photons have polarization λ which is orthogonal to q, and are sent in at angle β , see (5.4) and (5.6). A spacetime diagram is shown in (c), and the spatial plane is shown in (d). The amplitude depends on the difference α between the angles, $\alpha = \theta - \beta$.

occupation numbers $\{n_m\}$ of each of the transverse string modes m = 1, 2, 3... In terms of the DDF creation operators $(A^{\mu}_{-m}$ for mode m), the state is,

$$\prod_{m=1}^{\infty} (\lambda \cdot A_{-m})^{n_m} |0\rangle, \qquad N = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} m n_m .$$
(5.1)

We will find that the amplitude for the excited string (5.1) to decay to two tachyons is proportional to,

$$\mathcal{A} \propto \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} (p_3 \cdot \zeta P_m(p_3 \cdot q))^{n_m} ,$$

$$p_3 \cdot \zeta = -\sqrt{\frac{N}{2}} \sin \alpha , \quad p_3 \cdot q = -\cos^2 \frac{\alpha}{2} , \quad P_m(a) = \frac{(1+m\,a)_{m-1}}{(m-1)!} , \qquad (5.2)$$

where α is the relative angle between the direction of the tachyons and the photons creating the string, and $(a)_m$ is the Pochhammer symbol. This expression is valid in the approximation that the state is highly excited, $N \gg 1$, and the angle α is not close to 0 or π . This expression captures the angular dependence α of the amplitude; the amplitude also contains a state-dependent normalization prefactor, for which we do not have a simple expression. We will spend the rest of this section deriving and studying the result (5.2).

Kinematics. Let us look at the kinematics for the process of a heavy string decaying into two tachyons. The kinematics will occur in a three spacetime dimensional plane, and we choose the frame in which the heavy string is at rest. The heavy string is taken to have momentum p_1 , while the two tachyons have momenta p_2 and p_3 . Conservation of momentum is $p_1+p_2+p_3=0$. To slightly simplify the presentation, we take the heavy string to be very massive $N \gg 1$, so that we may approximate the mass $M^2 = 2(N-1) \approx 2N$. The kinematics is,

$$p_{1} = \sqrt{2N} (1,0,0)$$

$$p_{2} = -\frac{\sqrt{2N}}{2} (1,\sin\theta,\cos\theta)$$

$$p_{3} = -\frac{\sqrt{2N}}{2} (1,-\sin\theta,-\cos\theta) .$$
(5.3)

As discussed in section 3, the heavy (excited) string is formed by repeatedly scattering photons with momentum proportional to q (which we refer to as DDF photons) off of a tachyon. The vector q must satisfy $p_1 \cdot q = 1$, in order to produce a heavy string of the correct mass. Combined with the requirement that the photon momentum be null, $q^2 = 0$, this fixes q to take the form,

$$q = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2N}} (1, \sin\beta, \cos\beta), \qquad (5.4)$$

where β is an arbitrary angle which we are free to choose. A dot product we will need later on, between q and the momenta of the tachyons, is,

$$p_2 \cdot q = -\sin^2 \frac{\alpha}{2}, \quad p_3 \cdot q = -\cos^2 \frac{\alpha}{2}, \quad \alpha = \theta - \beta.$$
 (5.5)

The polarization λ of the DDF photon must be orthogonal to its momentum, $\lambda \cdot q = 0$. In three dimensions, the polarization is therefore,

$$\lambda = (0, -\cos\beta, \sin\beta) . \tag{5.6}$$

If we are in dimension D that is four or higher, we can let the polarization have arbitrary components λ^i in the higher dimensions, i = 3, ..., D. A special case is circular polarization

$$\lambda = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (0, -\cos\beta, \sin\beta, \pm i), \qquad (5.7)$$

which has $\lambda^2 = 0$. As usual, we can add a multiple of q to λ , and leave the amplitude unchanged. Recalling that $\zeta_{\mu} = \lambda_{\mu} - (\lambda \cdot p_1)q_{\mu}$, since $\lambda \cdot p_1 = 0$, we have $\zeta_{\mu} = \lambda_{\mu}$. The dot product of the momenta with the polarization is thus,

$$p_2 \cdot \zeta = -p_3 \cdot \zeta = \sqrt{\frac{N}{2}} \sin \alpha .$$
 (5.8)

The amplitude can only be a function of: $p_i \cdot p_j$ (all of which are constants), $p_i \cdot q$ and $p_i \cdot \zeta$. We see that neither of these depend on θ or β individually, but only on their difference $\alpha = \theta - \beta$, and so the amplitude will only depend on α . This had to be the case: since the choice of q, and hence β , is arbitrary and any particular q is enough to get a complete basis of excited states, it could not have been the case that different β lead to physically different amplitudes. We see that a change of β is just a coordinate rotation.

The amplitude. We now turn to the amplitude for a heavy string to decay into two tachyons. In section 4 we discussed the amplitude involving one heavy string and any number of tachyons. We can easily specialize this to two tachyons.

The formulas for the amplitude were considerably simpler in the case in which the polarization λ of the DDF photons is null, $\lambda^2 = 0$, as discussed in section 4.1. This can be achieved in dimensions four or higher by taking the polarizations to either all be right-handed circularly polarized, or all left-handed circularly polarized, see (5.7). We will start with this case.

The amplitude found in section 4.1 is,

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{N} \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(\Sigma'_m \right)^{n_m} \,, \tag{5.9}$$

where Σ'_m was given in (4.17) and \mathcal{N} is an irrelevant normalization factor. Applying that formula to two tachyons, we take a = 2, b = 3 and find $R_3 = 1$, and

$$\Sigma'_{n} = p_{3} \cdot \zeta \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{w^{-n}}{(1-w)^{1+np_{3}\cdot q}} = p_{3} \cdot \zeta \frac{(1+np_{3}\cdot q)_{n-1}}{(n-1)!} .$$
 (5.10)

The amplitude is thus,

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{N}(p_3 \cdot \zeta)^J \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} P_m (p_3 \cdot q)^{n_m} , \qquad (5.11)$$

where J is the spin $J = \sum_{m} n_{m}$, and $p_{3} \cdot \zeta$ was given in (5.8), $p_{3} \cdot q$ was given in (5.5) and we defined $P_{m}(a)$ in terms of the Pochhammer symbol,

$$P_m(a) = \frac{(1+m\,a)_{m-1}}{(m-1)!}, \qquad (a)_m = a(a+1)\cdots(a+m-1).$$
(5.12)

For some low values of m, the explicit form of $P_m(a)$ is,

$$P_1(a) = 1, P_2(a) = 1 + 2a,$$

$$P_3(a) = \frac{(1+3a)(2+3a)}{2}, P_4(a) = \frac{(1+4a)(2+4a)(3+4a)}{6}. (5.13)$$

Let us now consider the case of general polarization λ . We will find the amplitude is essentially proportional to (5.11), in a way in which we will elaborate on. In section 4.2 we discussed the case of general polarization, and found that the amplitude is given by (5.9) multiplied by a function of,

$$\frac{\zeta^2 \,\mathbb{S}'_{ij}}{\Sigma'_i \,\Sigma'_j} \tag{5.14}$$

for various i and j. The precise function is found by considering all possible Wick contractions involving the creation operators forming the state. The function will be discussed in [44], but we actually don't need to know it. The reason is that in the large N limit the ratio (5.14) is just a number, independent of the angle α . Let us compute this ratio. First, we note that if we specialize the formula (4.32) for S'_{ij} to the case of two tachyons, we can take the indices to be a = 2 and i = 3 and it reduces to,

$$S'_{m,n} = \sum_{r=1}^{n} r S_{m+r} \left(m \frac{p_3 \cdot q}{r} \right) S_{n-r} \left(n \frac{p_3 \cdot q}{r} \right) .$$
 (5.15)

Upon performing the sum,

$$S'_{m,n} = \sum_{r=1}^{n} r \frac{(mp_3 \cdot q)_{m+r}}{(m+r)!} \frac{(np_3 \cdot q)_{n-r}}{(n-r)!} = \frac{mn}{m+n} p_3 \cdot q \left(1+p_3 \cdot q\right) \frac{(1+np_3 \cdot q)_{n-1}}{(n-1)!} \frac{(1+mp_3 \cdot q)_{m-1}}{(m-1)!} .$$
 (5.16)

As a result the ratio that we need is,

$$\frac{\mathbb{S}'_{ij}}{\Sigma'_i \Sigma'_j} = \frac{ij}{i+j} \frac{p_3 \cdot q(1+p_3 \cdot q)}{(p_3 \cdot \zeta)^2} \ . \tag{5.17}$$

The kinematic terms appearing here were given earlier, see (5.5) and (5.8), which gives,

$$\frac{p_3 \cdot q(1+p_3 \cdot q)}{(p_3 \cdot \zeta)^2} = -\frac{1}{2N} .$$
(5.18)

Actually, we should be slightly careful — the kinematics we have been using involved taking the large N limit. If we do this more carefully, at finite N. we get,

$$\frac{p_3 \cdot q(1+p_3 \cdot q)}{(p_3 \cdot \zeta)^2} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{3+N-\frac{4}{\sin^2 \alpha}}{N^2+2N-3} \approx \frac{-1}{2N} + \frac{1}{2N^2} \left(\frac{4}{\sin^2 \alpha} - 1\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{N^3}\right).$$
(5.19)

Thus, as long as we are away from $\alpha = 0, \pi$, the leading term is a good approximation. Therefore, in the large N limit and away from $\alpha = 0, \pi$ we have,

$$\frac{\mathbb{S}'_{ij}}{\Sigma'_i \Sigma'_j} \approx -\frac{1}{2N} \frac{ij}{i+j} \ . \tag{5.20}$$

The amplitude will contain a function of these variables, which we don't know. However, since the variables are independent of α , the function will be independent of α .

Thus, away from $\alpha = 0$ and $\alpha = \pi$, the amplitude is proportional to (5.11),

$$\mathcal{A} \propto (p_3 \cdot \zeta)^J \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} P_m (p_3 \cdot q)^{n_m} , \qquad (5.21)$$

where $P_m(a)$ was defined in (5.12), $p_3 \cdot q$ was given in (5.5), and $p_3 \cdot \zeta$ was given in (5.8). We may equally well write the amplitude with $p_3 \cdot \zeta$ under the product, or the amplitude expressed in terms of $p_2 \cdot q$ and $p_2 \cdot \zeta$,

$$\mathcal{A} \propto \prod_{m} (p_3 \cdot \zeta P_m(p_3 \cdot q))^{n_m} = (-1)^N (p_2 \cdot \zeta)^J \prod_{m} P_m(p_2 \cdot q)^{n_m}, \qquad (5.22)$$

where in the second equality we used that $P_m(-1-a) = (-1)^{m-1}P_m(a)$ combined with $p_3 \cdot q = -1 - p_2 \cdot q$, as well as $p_2 \cdot \zeta = -p_3 \cdot \zeta$.

The amplitude (5.21) is the result (5.2) that was advertised at the beginning of the section as the amplitude for the heavy state (5.1) to decay to two tachyons. Perhaps the most familiar heavy state is the leading Regge trajectory $(\lambda \cdot A_{-1})^N |0\rangle$. Since $P_1(a) = 1$ (5.13), the amplitude is simply,

$$\mathcal{A} \sim (p_3 \cdot \zeta)^J \sim (\sin \alpha)^J, \quad J = N, \quad \text{for the state} \quad (\lambda \cdot A_{-1})^N |0\rangle .$$
 (5.23)

As would be expected, the amplitude is simple. A slightly more general simple state is one in which only one mode is excited,

$$(\lambda \cdot A_{-k})^n |0\rangle, \qquad N = nk, \qquad \mathcal{A} \propto (p_3 \cdot \zeta P_k(p_3 \cdot q))^n$$

$$(5.24)$$

The amplitude is again a smooth function of the angle α . Of course, this state is still special, so this is to be expected. We will soon show that, in contrast, for generic states the amplitude is erratic.

General polarization. The excited string state that we have so far discussed, (5.1), with one polarization is the general state in three dimension. In D space-time dimensions, there are D-2 independent polarization vectors and the most general state is given by,

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n_1} (\lambda_k^1 \cdot A_{-1}) \prod_{k=1}^{n_2} (\lambda_k^2 \cdot A_{-2}) \cdots \prod_{k=1}^{n_r} (\lambda_k^r \cdot A_{-r}) |0\rangle, \qquad N = \sum_{m=1}^r mn_m .$$
(5.25)

If all the polarization vectors are orthogonal to each and null then the amplitude is,

$$\mathcal{A} \propto \prod_{k=1}^{n_1} (p_3 \cdot \zeta_k^1) \prod_{k=1}^{n_2} (p_3 \cdot \zeta_k^2) \cdots \prod_{k=1}^{n_r} (p_3 \cdot \zeta_k^r) \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} P_m (p_3 \cdot q)^{n_m}, \qquad (5.26)$$

up to a normalization constant, where $\zeta_{\mu,k}^i = \lambda_{\mu,k}^i - (\lambda_k^i \cdot p_1)q_{\mu}$. If there is only one polarization vector, this reduces to (5.21). In the case the polarization vectors are not orthogonal to each other, (5.26) will be multiplied by a function of

$$\frac{\zeta_k^i \cdot \zeta_l^j \, \mathbb{S}'_{ij}}{\Sigma'_i \, \Sigma'_j} \,. \tag{5.27}$$

As we saw earlier in (5.18), the ratio $\mathbb{S}'_{ij}/(\Sigma'_i \Sigma'_j)$ is independent of α . So this function of (5.27) will only be a function of the dot products of the polarization vectors. Thus, the α dependence of the amplitude is captured by (5.26), whereas the dependence on the relative polarization angles is not something we explicitly know. The essential point is that the factor that will give rise to chaos is the α dependent term $\prod_{m=1}^{\infty} P_m (p_3 \cdot q)^{n_m}$ that appears in the amplitude. This term is independent of the choices of polarization. We will therefore continue our discussion of the amplitude by focusing on the amplitude (5.21) for the case of one polarization vector.



Figure 8. A plot of $P_m(a)$ (5.12) with m = 11. At large $m P_m(a)$ is approximated by (5.28).

Oscillations in $P_m(a)$. The essential ingredient in the amplitude is the function which we called $P_m(a)$ in (5.12). We notice that $P_m(a)$ is oscillatory for -1 < a < 0, and monotonic for a outside this range. For us $a = p_3 \cdot q$ and is in the oscillatory range -1 < a < 0, at large N. A plot of $P_m(a)$ for m = 11 is shown in figure 8. The larger m, the more oscillatory $P_m(a)$ is. Indeed, we can simplify $P_m(a)$ at large m through use of Stirling's approximation. For -1 < a < 0, we get,

$$P_m(a) = -\sin(\pi m a) \sqrt{\frac{2}{m\pi}} \frac{(1+a)^{m(1+a)-\frac{1}{2}}}{(-a)^{ma+\frac{1}{2}}}, \qquad m|a| \gg 1.$$
 (5.28)

An erratic amplitude. Each $P_m(a)$ comprising the amplitude (5.21) is a smooth function of a that has m-1 zeros as a ranges from -1 to 0. In the limit of large m, as we said, $P_m(a)$ can be approximated by (5.28), and the zeros lie at $a = \frac{1}{m}, \frac{2}{m}, \ldots, \frac{m-1}{m}$. Each $P_m(a)$ by itself is a fairly regular function.

However, with a product of $P_m(a)$ over many m we have a much more interesting function. Taking the amplitude (5.21) and using the approximation (5.28), the amplitude takes the form,

$$\mathcal{A} \sim (\sin \alpha)^{J} \exp\left(-\sum_{m} n_{m} \log m\right) \frac{(1+p_{3} \cdot q)^{N(1+p_{3} \cdot q)-\frac{J}{2}}}{(-p_{3} \cdot q)^{Np_{3} \cdot q+\frac{J}{2}}} \prod_{m} (\sin(\pi m p_{3} \cdot q))^{n_{m}}, \quad m \gg 1.$$
(5.29)

The kinematic factor $p_3 \cdot q$ was given in (5.5), $p_3 \cdot q = -\cos^2 \frac{\alpha}{2}$. The erratic nature of the amplitude comes from the last term, the product of the sine factors. Consider taking the limit of N goes to infinity, and taking our excited string state to have a nonzero occupation number for each mode. The amplitude then has a zero for every angle α at which $\cos^2 \frac{\alpha}{2}$ is a rational number.

For any particular (generic, highly excited) state, the amplitude appears to be erratic, in both the change in the outgoing tachyons or the ingoing excited string. In particular, a small change in the angle θ of the detector for the tachyons potentially leads to a large change in the amplitude (recall that $\alpha = \theta - \beta$). Likewise, the amplitude has the same sensitivity to the ingoing state, under a small change in the angle β of the DDF photons that form the excited string. In addition, the amplitude is sensitive to the precise occupation levels of the initial string: suppose we take an initial string in which a large number of



Figure 9. A plot of the amplitude for an excited string (at level N = 50, in a particular state we specify) to decay to two tachyons, as a function of the angle α , as given by (5.21). (a) The amplitude for the state with occupation numbers $n_{11} = n_7 = n_5 = 1$, $n_4 = 4$, $n_3 = 3$, $n_1 = 2$. (b) We slightly change the state to have $n_{12} = n_6 = 1$ and $n_{11} = n_7 = 0$, and other occupation numbers unaffected. It is very different from plot (a).

different modes have nonzero occupation number. Let one of these modes be m, so that n_m is nonzero. Let r be a nearby mode for which n_r is zero. It is a fairly minor change in the state to change n_m to zero and n_r to something nonzero. The ratio of these two amplitudes contains $P_r(p_3 \cdot q)/P_m(p_3 \cdot q)$, a function which has both zeros and poles.

An example. Let us look at the amplitude (5.21) for some particular excited string state. As an example, we take the excited string to be at level N = 50, and take some randomly chosen state at this level. For instance,

$$(\lambda \cdot A_{-11})(\lambda \cdot A_{-7})(\lambda \cdot A_{-5})(\lambda \cdot A_{-4})^4 (\lambda \cdot A_{-3})^3 (\lambda \cdot A_{-1})^2 |0\rangle .$$
(5.30)

We plot the amplitude (5.21) as a function of angle α in figure 9(a). Even at this relatively small value of N, the amplitude exhibits nontrivial behavior. If we change to a different state, also at level 50, the amplitude looks very different, as shown in figure 9(b).

A detector measuring erratic behavior. Let us now combine everything to discuss our setup. We start with a highly excited string in a generic state. At finite string coupling g_s , the excited string will decay into other strings. For small g_s , we can look at just the leading order process, of the string decaying into two strings.

For simplicity, we focus on the case in which the string decays into two tachyons. This is not the generic decay channel, and not the dominant decay channel, however it is the simplest to calculate. Operationally, we can arrange to have a detector which only detects tachyons. There is a finite amplitude for the initial string to decay into two tachyons, and so the detector will occasionally click.

We are interested in the behavior of the amplitude as a function of the outgoing angle of the tachyons. If the initial excited string state is one of the basis states we discussed, then the amplitude is highly erratic as a function of the angle, and is extremely sensitive to the precise state of the heavy string. As we move our detector around (varying θ), its detection of tachyons will vary erratically.

A natural way of forming the initial highly excited string is through a scattering process of light strings. This is encoded in the DDF construction of an excited string that we have been using, in which photons are repeatedly scattered off of an initial tachyon. A small change in the excited string state then corresponds to a small change in one of the momenta of the many photons that formed the excited string. Note also that the erratic behavior in the amplitude arrises in the limit in which the string is in a generic highly excited state (large N); a large number of photons are sent in to form it. This is in line with the proposal of [4], that chaos can be seen in the erratic behavior of the scattering amplitude of many particles, under a change in the momentum of one of the particles.

This erratic behavior is not seen in the imaginary part of the high energy, large s, scattering amplitude of two tachyons, even though this is given by a sum, over all states of mass \sqrt{s} , of the square of these amplitudes. Most of the terms in the sum will be erratic, but the chaotic, erratic behavior is washed out in the sum.

5.2 Three tachyons and one excited string

In this section we discuss the amplitude involving an excited string and three tachyons. The amplitude involving an excited string and any number of tachyons was discussed in section 4. In this section we specialize the formulas found there to three tachyons.

Special polarization. We start with the case considered in section 4.1: an excited state,

$$(\lambda \cdot A_{-1})^{n_1} (\lambda \cdot A_{-2})^{n_2} \cdots (\lambda \cdot A_{-k})^{n_k} |0\rangle, \qquad N = \sum_{i=1}^k i n_i, \qquad (5.31)$$

in which the polarizations λ of all the DDF photons forming the excited state are the same and $\lambda^2=0$. We found the amplitude is,

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int dz \, \exp\left(\mathcal{L}\right) \,, \tag{5.32}$$

where \mathcal{L} was given by (4.15) which, after taking n = 3 (three tachyons), and a = 2, b = 3, becomes,

$$\mathcal{L} = p_2 \cdot p_4 \log R + p_3 \cdot p_4 \log(R-1) - \log(z_{14}^2 z_{23}^2) + \sum_{m=1}^k n_m \log(-\Sigma'_m), \quad R \equiv R_4 = \frac{z_{13} z_{24}}{z_{14} z_{23}},$$
(5.33)

and Σ'_n given in (4.17) becomes,

$$\Sigma_n' = p_3 \cdot \zeta \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{w^{-n}}{(1-w)^{1+np_3 \cdot q} (1-wR)^{np_4 \cdot q}} + p_4 \cdot \zeta \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{R w^{-n}}{(1-w)^{np_3 \cdot q} (1-wR)^{1+np_4 \cdot q}},$$
(5.34)

where we used that $R_3 = 1$. Performing the integrals gives,

$$\Sigma'_{n} = p_{3} \cdot \zeta \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{(1+n \, p_{3} \cdot q)_{n-1-m}}{(n-1-m)!} \frac{(n \, p_{4} \cdot q)_{m}}{m!} R^{m} + p_{4} \cdot \zeta \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{(1+n \, p_{4} \cdot q)_{n-1-m}}{(n-1-m)!} \frac{(n \, p_{3} \cdot q)_{m}}{m!} R^{n-m} .$$
(5.35)

We can use SL₂ symmetry to fix three of the four z_i in the integral for the amplitude (5.32) (see the discussion above (2.24)) to the values $z_1 = \infty$, $z_2 = 1$, $z_3 = z$ and $z_4 = 0$, so that $R = (1 - z)^{-1}$. The amplitude becomes,

$$\mathcal{A} = \int_0^1 dz \, z^{p_3 \cdot p_4} (1-z)^{p_2 \cdot p_3} \, \prod_m (-\Sigma'_m)^{n_m} \,. \tag{5.36}$$

This expression for the amplitude, with Σ'_n given above in (5.35), is fully explicit and relatively compact. We see that the scaling with the polarization is ζ^J , where $J = \sum_m n_m$ is the spin, which is correct. If we wished, we could do a multinomial expansion of $(-\Sigma'_m)^{n_m}$ in powers of (1-z), and then perform the z integrals, thereby obtaining the amplitude as a sum of beta functions. However, such an expression wouldn't be any more enlightening than the current form.

Notice that if we take the excited state to be a tachyon, setting $n_m = 0$ for all m, then we recover the Veneziano amplitude. As is well known, for high energy, fixed angle scattering of tachyons (large Mandelstam s and t), one can get the amplitude by taking the saddle with respect to z [90, 91]. If the excited state were only moderately excited, so that N remains finite as $s, t \to \infty$, then the same saddle would hold here. However, the situation we are studying is one in which N is of the same order as s and t, and so one can not neglect the $(-\Sigma'_m)^{n_m}$ in (5.36) when finding the saddle. We leave a discussion of the saddle to future work.

Special polarization and special kinematics. There is one special case in which the amplitude simplifies. Looking at Σ'_n (5.35) we notice that it simplifies significantly if $q \cdot p_4 = \zeta \cdot p_4 = 0$,

$$\Sigma'_{n} = p_{3} \cdot \zeta \frac{(1 + np_{3} \cdot q)_{n-1}}{(n-1)!} = p_{3} \cdot \zeta P_{n}(p_{3} \cdot q), \quad \text{for} \quad q \cdot p_{4} = \zeta \cdot p_{4} = 0.$$
 (5.37)

The dependence on R has disappeared, and the amplitude becomes,

$$\mathcal{A} = \prod_{m} (-\Sigma'_{m})^{n_{m}} \int_{0}^{1} dz \, z^{p_{3} \cdot p_{4}} (1-z)^{p_{2} \cdot p_{3}} = \prod_{m} (-p_{3} \cdot \zeta \, P_{m} (p_{3} \cdot q))^{n_{m}} \, \beta(p_{3} \cdot p_{4} + 1, p_{2} \cdot p_{3} + 1) \,,$$
(5.38)

where the beta function is just the tachyon amplitude, see (2.24). Comparing with the three-point amplitude in (5.11), the four-point amplitude — for our special kinematic configuration — is the three-point heavy-tachyon-tachyon amplitude multiplied by the four-point tachyon amplitude.

The conditions that we needed, $q \cdot p_4 = \zeta \cdot p_4 = 0$, can equivalently be written as $q \cdot p_4 = \lambda \cdot p_4 = 0$, because $\zeta_{\mu} = \lambda_{\mu} - (\lambda \cdot p_1)q_{\mu}$. So the momentum of the tachyon is orthogonal to the momenta of the DDF photons that created the excited state (which are proportional to q), and orthogonal to their polarization. Since q is null this means that in the high energy limit, in which tachyons are approximately massless, p_4 is approximately some multiple of q. Also, the condition $p_4 \cdot \lambda = 0$ follows automatically, since $q \cdot \lambda = 0$.

General polarization. Finally, we look at the case considered in section 4.2 of an excited string in a general state,

$$\lambda_k \cdot A_{-m_k} \cdots \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2} \ \lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1} |0\rangle, \qquad N = \sum_i m_i \ . \tag{5.39}$$

The amplitude is given by,

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int dz \, \exp\left(\mathcal{L}\right) \,, \tag{5.40}$$

where \mathcal{L} was given by (4.29) which, after taking n = 3 (three tachyons), and a = 2, b = 3, becomes,

$$\mathcal{L} = p_2 \cdot p_4 \log R + p_3 \cdot p_4 \log(R-1) - \log(z_{14}^2 z_{23}^2) + \log\left(\sum_{\rho=1}^{\lfloor k/2 \rfloor} \sum_{\pi} \prod_{l=1}^{\rho} (\zeta_{\pi(2l-1)} \cdot \zeta_{\pi(2l)}) \, \mathbb{S}'_{m_{\pi(2l-1)}, m_{\pi(2l)}} \prod_{q=2\rho+1}^{k} (-\Sigma'_{m_{\pi q}}(\zeta_q))\right), \quad (5.41)$$

where $R \equiv R_4 = \frac{z_{13}z_{24}}{z_{14}z_{23}}$, and $\Sigma'_m(\zeta)$ was given by (5.35), and $S'_{m,n}$ in (4.32) becomes,

$$\mathbb{S}'_{m,n} = \sum_{r=1}^{n} r \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{w^{-m-r-1}}{(1-w)^{mp_{3}\cdot q}(1-wR)^{mp_{4}\cdot q}} \oint \frac{dv}{2\pi i} \frac{v^{-n+r-1}}{(1-v)^{np_{3}\cdot q}(1-vR)^{np_{4}\cdot q}} \ . \tag{5.42}$$

If we wish, we can evaluate the integrals over w and v; each will give a sum, as in (5.35). We may instead do the sum over r to get,

$$\mathbb{S}'_{m,n} = \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dv}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{(v-w)^2 w^m v^n} \frac{1}{(1-w)^{mp_3 \cdot q} (1-wR)^{mp_4 \cdot q}} \frac{1}{(1-v)^{np_3 \cdot q} (1-vR)^{np_4 \cdot q}} .$$
(5.43)

Notice that if we take $p_4 \cdot q = 0$ in (5.42), then $S'_{m,n}$ becomes identical to the $S'_{m,n}$ found in the three-point amplitude (5.16).

6 Discussion

In this paper we looked at scattering amplitudes involving highly excited strings. A general excited string state was formed by the DDF construction, of repeatedly scattering photons off of an initial tachyon. We studied in detail the amplitude for the decay of a highly excited string into two tachyons. The result is compact and rich, and summarized in the beginning of section 5. We found that the amplitude involving generic excited strings (in contrast to the more commonly studied special excited states, such as the leading Regge trajectory) is highly sensitive to the precise excited string state (the microstate) and erratic as a function of the relative angle between the outgoing tachyons and the photons used to create the state. We interpret this as chaos in the scattering amplitude.

Although our computation was for one excited string decaying into two tachyons, it seems fairly clear that the effect is general: a scattering amplitude involving any number of generic highly excited strings should be chaotic. The next simplest case to consider is a highly excited string decaying into another highly excited string by emitting a low energy tachyon or photon. This is more challenging to calculate than the case studied here, and we hope to report on it soon.

An important question is what is the dominant decay channel of a highly excited string. If a highly excited string is to behave like a conventional thermodynamic system, then the dominant decay channel should consist of the string gradually and sequentially emitting low energy tachyons/photons. One might hope that this amplitude can be found by gluing together the three-string amplitudes of an excited string decaying into another excited string and a photon. This process would be an analog of a black hole decaying by gradual emission of Hawking radiation.

String theory is known to have a number of unique and extraordinary properties. The remarkable simplicity and complexity of scattering amplitudes of highly excited strings, exhibiting chaos at weak coupling, is yet one more.

Acknowledgments

The work of DG is supported by NSF grant 1125915. The work of VR is supported by NSF grant PHY-1911298 and the Sivian Fund of the IAS.

A Covariant vertex operators

In the main body of the text we found the vertex operators for excited string states through the DDF construction. In this appendix we review the more familiar construction of covariant vertex operators, as found by imposing the Virasoro constraints. This works well for light string states, but becomes increasingly unwieldy for heavy string states.

Recall that the open string field X^{μ} can be expanded in terms of modes,

$$\partial X^{\mu}(z) = -i \sum_{n} \frac{\alpha_{n}^{\mu}}{z^{n+1}}, \qquad \alpha_{-n}^{\mu} = \frac{i}{(n-1)!} \partial^{n} X^{\mu}(0) .$$
 (A.1)

An excited string state is obtained by acting with the creation operators α_{-n}^{μ} on the vacuum. The relation above allows us to translate between states and their corresponding vertex operators,

$$\alpha_{-n_1}^{\mu_1} \alpha_{-n_2}^{\mu_2} \cdots \alpha_{-n_k}^{\mu_k} |0; p\rangle \leftrightarrow \partial^{n_1} X^{\mu_1} \partial^{n_2} X^{\nu_2} \cdots \partial^{n_k} X^{\mu_k} e^{ip \cdot X} .$$
(A.2)

Only particular superpositions of these are allowed states. In order for a state to be physical, it must both be annihilated by the Virasoro generators,

$$L_m |\phi\rangle = 0, \quad m > 0, \qquad L_m = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n = -\infty}^{\infty} \alpha_{m-n} \cdot \alpha_n, \qquad (A.3)$$

and it must be on-shell, $L_0 |\phi\rangle = |\phi\rangle$, which corresponds to $M^2 = -2 + 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{-n} \cdot \alpha_n$. Note that $\alpha_0^{\mu} = p^{\mu}$. We will show explicitly how this works for states at levels one, two, and three. N = 1. At level N = 1 the states are massless and take the form,

$$\zeta \cdot \alpha_{-1}|0;p\rangle \qquad \leftrightarrow \qquad \zeta \cdot \partial X e^{ip \cdot X}$$
 (A.4)

Acting with L_1 gives,

$$0 = L_1 \zeta \cdot \alpha_{-1} |0; p\rangle = \zeta \cdot p |0; p\rangle, \qquad (A.5)$$

where we used that the relevant part of L_1 is $L_1 = \alpha_0 \cdot \alpha_1 + \ldots$, and that the modes satisfy the commutation relations $[\alpha_m^{\mu}, \alpha_n^{\nu}] = m \eta^{\mu\nu} \delta_{mn}$. We get the constraint that $\zeta \cdot p = 0$. A second constraint is that we may add any multiple of p to ζ , while leaving the amplitude involving the vertex operator unaffected. To see this, note that if we take $\zeta = p$, then the vertex operator is a total derivative of the tachyon vertex operator

$$p \cdot \partial X \, e^{ip \cdot X} = -i\partial \, e^{ip \cdot X} \,. \tag{A.6}$$

Thus we have two constraints, and correspondingly a basis of D-2 states at level-one in dimension D.

Explicitly, suppose we are in three dimensions and take the momentum to be p = (1,0,1). Letting the polarization have components $\zeta_{\mu} = (\zeta_0, \zeta_1, \zeta_2)$, the constraint $p \cdot \zeta = 0$ gives $\zeta_2 = \zeta_0$. Being able to add any multiple of p to ζ lets us further set $\zeta_0 = 0$. Thus, the polarization is proportional to (0,1,0).

N = 2. At level N = 2 the states have mass $M^2 = 2$ and take the form,

$$\left(\zeta \cdot \alpha_{-2} - \zeta_{\mu\nu} \alpha^{\mu}_{-1} \alpha^{\nu}_{-1}\right) |0; p\rangle, \quad \leftrightarrow \quad \left(i\zeta_{\mu} \partial^2 X^{\mu} + \zeta_{\mu\nu} \partial X^{\mu} \partial X^{\nu}\right) e^{ip \cdot X} . \tag{A.7}$$

Requiring that the state be annihilated under the action of L_1 and L_2 gives, respectively,

$$\zeta_{\mu} - p^{\nu} \zeta_{\mu\nu} = 0, \quad \eta^{\mu\nu} \zeta_{\mu\nu} - 2p \cdot \zeta = 0,$$
 (A.8)

where we used that the relevant part of L_1 is $L_1 = \alpha_0 \cdot \alpha_1 + \alpha_{-1} \cdot \alpha_2 + ...$ and that the relevant part of L_2 is $L_2 = \alpha_2 \cdot \alpha_0 + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_1 \cdot \alpha_1 + ...$ Finally, the norm of the state is $2(\zeta_{\mu}\zeta^{\mu*} + \zeta_{\mu\nu}\zeta^{\mu\nu*})$. Since $\zeta_{\mu\nu}$ is a symmetric tensor, this gives D(D+1)/2 components. The vector ζ_{μ} is fixed via (A.8) in terms of $\zeta_{\mu\nu}$, and the second equation in (A.8) give one constraint. Thus we have a total of $\frac{(D-2)(D+1)}{2}$ independent states, which is the dimension of the symmetric traceless representation of SO(D-1).

N = 3. At level N = 3 the state takes the form,

$$\begin{aligned} \left(2\zeta \cdot \alpha_{-3} - t_{\mu\nu} \alpha_{-2}^{\mu} \alpha_{-1}^{\nu} - \zeta_{\mu\nu\rho} \alpha_{-1}^{\mu} \alpha_{-1}^{\nu} \alpha_{-1}^{\rho} \right) |0;p\rangle \\ & \leftrightarrow \left(i\zeta_{\mu} \partial^{3} X^{\mu} + t_{\mu\nu} \partial^{2} X^{\mu} \partial X^{\nu} + i\zeta_{\mu\nu\rho} \partial X^{\mu} \partial X^{\nu} \partial X^{\rho} \right) e^{ip \cdot X} \end{aligned}$$

Requiring that the state be annihilated by L_1 , L_2 and L_3 gives the constraints, respectively,

$$6\zeta_{\mu} - t_{\mu\nu}p^{\nu} = 0, \qquad t_{\mu\nu} + t_{\nu\mu} + 3\zeta_{\mu\nu\rho}p^{\rho} = 0$$

$$6\zeta_{\mu} - 2t_{\nu\mu}p^{\nu} - 3\eta^{\nu\rho}\zeta_{\mu\nu\rho} = 0$$

$$3\zeta \cdot p - t_{\mu\nu}\eta^{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (A.9)$$

where in the first line, corresponding to annihilation by L_1 , we have two constraints, coming from the requirement that the coefficients of both $\alpha_{-2}^{\mu}|0\rangle$ and $\alpha_{-1}^{\mu}\alpha_{-1}^{\nu}|0\rangle$ vanish.

Proceeding to higher N in this fashion is tedious. For some discussion see e.g. [37-39].

B Normalization of DDF operators

In order to gain experience working with the DDF vertex operators, it is useful to check that they are correctly normalized.

Single creation operators. Since the DDF operators A_{-m} obey the commutation relations of creation operators, (2.3), we have that the overlap of two states $\lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1}|0\rangle$ and $\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2}|0\rangle$ is given by,

$$\langle 0|\lambda_1^* \cdot A_{m_1}\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2}|0\rangle = \lambda_1^* \cdot \lambda_2 m_1 \delta_{m_1,m_2} . \tag{B.1}$$

We would like to get the same thing by computing the two point function of the corresponding DDF vertex operators given in (3.37),

$$\langle V_1^* V_2 \rangle \equiv \langle (:\lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(z_1)} :)^* : \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2} e^{i\widetilde{p} \cdot X(z_2)} : \rangle .$$
(B.2)

We use (3.37) for the vertex operator (note that taking the complex conjugate is equivalent to (3.37) with $q \rightarrow -q$ and $p \rightarrow -p$). We get that (B.2) is equal to,

$$\langle V_1^* V_2 \rangle = \zeta_1^* \cdot \zeta_2 \sum_{a_1, a_2} \frac{\langle \partial^{a_1} X(z_1) \partial^{a_2} X(z_2) \rangle}{(a_1 - 1)! (a_2 - 1)!} \\ \times S_{m_1 - a_1} \left(-\frac{m_1}{r z_{21}^r} \right) S_{m_2 - a_2} \left(-\frac{m_2}{r z_{12}^r} \right) \langle e^{-ip \cdot X(z_1)} e^{ip \cdot X(z_2)} \rangle .$$
 (B.3)

We perform the Wick contractions using (2.7), as well as (2.14) which gives, $\langle e^{-ip \cdot X(z_1)} e^{ip \cdot X(z_2)} \rangle = z_{12}^{-p^2}$, and we use for the Schur polynomial,

$$S_k\left(-\frac{m_1}{rz_{21}^r}\right) = \oint \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{w^{k+1}} \left(1 - \frac{w}{z_{21}}\right)^{m_1} = \binom{m_1}{k} \frac{(-1)^k}{z_{21}^k}, \quad (B.4)$$

to get

$$\langle V_1^* V_2 \rangle = \zeta_1^* \cdot \zeta_2 \frac{1}{z_{12}^{m_1 + m_2 + p^2}} \sum_{a_1, a_2} \frac{(-1)^{m_2 - a_1 - a_2} (a_1 + a_2 - 1)!}{(a_1 - 1)! (a_2 - 1)!} \binom{m_1}{a_1} \binom{m_2}{a_2} .$$
(B.5)

Evaluating the sum gives,¹⁶

$$\langle V_1^* V_2 \rangle = \zeta_1^* \cdot \zeta_2 \, m_1 \, \frac{(-1)^{m_1}}{z_{12}^2} \, \delta_{m_1, m_2} \,, \tag{B.6}$$

where we used that $p^2 = -2(m_1 - 1)$. Since $\zeta_1^* \cdot \zeta_2 = \lambda_1^* \cdot \lambda_2$, this matches what we expected (B.1).

$$\sum_{a_2} \frac{(-1)^{m_2-a_2} (a_1+a_2-1)!}{(a_2-1)!} \binom{m_2}{a_2} = (-\partial_z)^{a_1} \sum_{a_2} \binom{m_2}{a_2} \frac{(-1)^{m_2-a_2}}{z^{a_2}} \Big|_{z=1}$$
$$= (-1)^{m_2+a_1} \partial_z^{a_1} \left(\frac{z-1}{z}\right)^{m_2} \Big|_{z=1} = m_2! \,\delta_{m_2,a_1}$$

¹⁶For $a_1 \leq m_1$, one can evaluate the sum by using,

Two creation operators. Let us check the normalization of a state created with two creation operators, $\lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2}\lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1}|0\rangle$. From the commutation relations of creation operators (2.3), we have,

$$\langle 0|\lambda_1^* \cdot A_{m_1}\lambda_2^* \cdot A_{m_2} \lambda_2 \cdot A_{-m_2}\lambda_1 \cdot A_{-m_1}|0\rangle = |\lambda_1|^2 |\lambda_2^2|m_1m_2 + |\lambda_1 \cdot \lambda_2^*|^2 m_1\delta_{m_1,m_2} .$$
(B.7)

Now let us get the same result by computing the two-point function of the vertex operator (3.41) at z_2 and its complex conjugate at z_1 ,

$$\left\langle \left[\left(\zeta_2 \cdot P_{m_2} \,\zeta_1 \cdot P_{m_1} + \zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_2 \,\,\mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2} \right) e^{i p \cdot X(z_1)} \right]^* \left(\zeta_2 \cdot P_{m_2} \,\zeta_1 \cdot P_{m_1} + \zeta_1 \cdot \zeta_2 \,\,\mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2} \right) e^{i p \cdot X(z_2)} \right\rangle \,.$$
(B.8)

We note that since \mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2} contains only terms of the form $q \cdot \partial^r X(z)$, and since $q^2 = 0$ and $q \cdot \zeta_i = 0$, we can only contract the \mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2} with the exponential. Thus the $\mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2}(z_1)$ that we have on the left becomes,

$$\mathbb{S}_{m_1,m_2}(z_1) = \sum_{m=1}^{m_1} m \, S_{m_1-m} \left(-\frac{m_1}{r z_{21}^r} \right) \, S_{m_2+m} \left(-\frac{m_2}{r z_{21}^r} \right) \, . \tag{B.9}$$

Using the contour integral representation of the Schur polynomial (B.4) we see that $S_{m_2+m}\left(-\frac{m_2}{rz_{11}^r}\right) = 0$ for $m \ge 1$. Hence (B.8) becomes,

$$\left\langle \left[\left(\zeta_2 \cdot P_{m_2} \,\zeta_1 \cdot P_{m_1} \right) e^{i p \cdot X(z_1)} \right]^* \left(\zeta_2 \cdot P_{m_2} \,\zeta_1 \cdot P_{m_1} \right) e^{i p \cdot X(z_2)} \right\rangle \,. \tag{B.10}$$

We may now contract $(\zeta_2 \cdot P_{m_2})^*(z_1)$ with either $\zeta_2 \cdot P_{m_2}(z_2)$ or with $\zeta_1 \cdot P_{m_1}(z_1)$. Using (B.6) we thus find,

$$\left(|\zeta_1|^2|\zeta_2^2|m_1m_2+|\zeta_1\cdot\zeta_2^*|^2m_1^2\delta_{m_1,m_2}\right)\frac{(-1)^{m_1+m_2}}{z_{12}^2}.$$
(B.11)

This matches (B.7).

The generalization to a state created with multiple creation operators is clear.

C A generalization of the scattering equations

The bosonic closed (open) n string scattering amplitudes, to lowest order in g_s , are given by saddles in the integration over the positions (z_i) of the vertex operators on the sphere (upper half plane), when we take all kinematic invariants to be large or, equivalently, $\alpha' \to \infty$

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(SL_2)} \int \prod_{i=1}^n dz_i \, \exp \mathcal{L}(z) \,, \qquad \mathcal{L}(z) = 2\alpha' \sum_{0 \le i < j \le n}^n p_i \cdot p_j \log z_{ij} \,. \tag{C.1}$$

The $z'_i s$ are determined, up to SL₂ transformations, by the "scattering equations":

$$\sum_{j \neq i} \frac{p_i \cdot p_j}{z_i - z_j} = 0, \text{ for } i = 1 \dots n$$
(C.2)

which determine the saddles of (C.1). Note that in this limit we can take the tachyons to be massless, as $p_i^2 = 1/\alpha'$. These equations are invariant under SL₂ transformations of the z_i and thus yield n-3 equations. They have (n-3)! solutions.

Although these equations determine high energy string scattering they are also key ingredients in the CHY formulas [95, 96] for massless particle scattering in field theory, and have been the subject of much investigation recently. The scattering of excited strings will be governed by the same saddle as long as one keeps the mass of the excited strings small compared to the energies and momentum transfers, leading to the many relations between scattering amplitudes discussed in [90–93]. However, if we consider strings with masses of order the energies, the saddles will be shifted. This will lead to interesting generalizations of the scattering equations. In this section we will exhibit some of the simplest generalizations.

Consider the simple case discussed in section 4.1 of the scattering of one heavy string in which all the DDF photons forming the excited state have the same polarization λ , orthogonal to its momentum p_h (in this section we let p_h denote the momentum of the heavy string) and with $\lambda^2 = 0$. The analog of (C.1) was given in equations (4.9), (4.10) and (4.11). Specializing further, consider the case where the excited string has $n_1 = N$, $n_{i>1} = 0$, namely the exited string lies on the leading Regge trajectory, has momentum p_h (where $p_h^2 = -2N$) and polarization ξ , ($\xi \cdot p_h = 0$). In this case, for n tachyons (which we can take to be massless) of momenta p_i , the action is given by,

$$\mathcal{L}(z) = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} p_i \cdot p_j \log z_{ij} + \sum_{i=1}^n p_i \cdot p_h \log(z_i - z_h) + N \log(\Sigma_1), \quad \Sigma_1 = \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{p_j \cdot \zeta}{z_j - z_h}.$$
 (C.3)

The saddles are given by $\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}(z_i, z_h)}{\partial z_i} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}(z_i, z_h)}{\partial z_h} = 0$,

$$\sum_{j \neq i} \frac{p_i \cdot p_j}{z_i - z_j} + \frac{p_i \cdot p_h}{z_i - z_h} - \frac{N}{\Sigma_1} \frac{p_i \cdot \zeta}{(z_i - z_h)^2} = 0, \quad \text{for } i = 1, \dots, n , \quad (C.4)$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{p_j \cdot p_h}{z_h - z_j} + \frac{N}{\Sigma_1} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{p_j \cdot \zeta}{(z_h - z_j)^2} = 0 .$$
(C.5)

These equations for z_i and z_h are invariant under Möbius transformations, $\{z \to \frac{az+b}{cz+d}, ad-cb=1\}$. They are equivalent to requiring that the vector field $E^{\mu}(z)$

$$E^{\mu}(z) \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{p_{j}^{\mu}}{z - z_{j}} + \frac{p_{h}^{\mu}}{z - z_{h}} + \frac{N\xi^{\mu}}{\Sigma_{1}} \frac{1}{(z - z_{h})^{2}}$$
(C.6)

is null, $E^{\mu}(z)E_{\mu}(z) = 0$. $E^{\mu}(z)$ is the electric field created by charges (p_i^{μ}, p_h^{μ}) at positions (z_i, z_h) , as well a dipole $\frac{N\xi^{\mu}}{\Sigma_1}$ at z_h .

Similar generalizations of the scattering equations can easily be derived by considering the critical points of the Lagrangians given in (4.10), as well as (4.27).

D A typical string state

In the main body of the paper we discussed scattering amplitudes of excited string states. However, for a string of given mass, the number of different states grows exponentially with the mass. Clearly, we need to have a better sense of which states in particular we



Figure 10. A Young diagram corresponding to the state in (D.2).

would like to study. We are interested in the generic state. In D space-time dimensions, there are D-2 independent polarization vectors. A state is created by acting with the DDF creation operators, A^{μ}_{-m} , which excite mode m in direction μ . We let n_m denote the number of times mode m is excited. The modes are excited in direction (polarization) λ_k^m , where $k = 1, 2, \ldots, n_k$. A state at level N, having mass $M^2 = 2(N-1)$, therefore takes the form,

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n_1} (\lambda_k^1 \cdot A_{-1}) \prod_{k=1}^{n_2} (\lambda_k^2 \cdot A_{-2}) \cdots \prod_{k=1}^{n_r} (\lambda_k^r \cdot A_{-r}) |0\rangle, \qquad N = \sum_{m=1}^r m n_m . \tag{D.1}$$

The state is specified by the polarizations $\{\lambda_m^k\}$ and the occupation numbers $\{n_m\}$.

The question of what a typical state looks like is more precisely: for a given N, what is the typical value of the occupation number n_m of mode m? In this section we will show that, in the large N limit, the typical (or equivalently, average) occupation number takes the form of a Bose-Einstein distribution $\langle n_m \rangle = \frac{1}{e^{m/T}-1}$, with a temperature $T = \frac{\sqrt{6N(D-2)}}{\pi}$.

A typical Young diagram. Let us reformulate the problem of finding the expected occupation numbers n_m as one of finding the generic partition. We associate every state with a partition, and take D = 3 so that the polarization is unique. An example of a state and the corresponding partition is,

$$(\lambda \cdot A_{-7})(\lambda \cdot A_{-4})(\lambda \cdot A_{-2})(\lambda \cdot A_{-1})(\lambda \cdot A_{-1})(\lambda \cdot A_{-1})|0\rangle, \qquad \{7, 4, 2, 1, 1, 1\}, \qquad (D.2)$$

which is just one of the 231 partitions of N = 16. A general state/partition is,

$$(\lambda \cdot A_{-l_1})(\lambda \cdot A_{-l_2}) \cdots (\lambda \cdot A_{-l_r})|0\rangle, \qquad \{l_1, l_2, \dots, l_r\}$$
$$l_1 \ge l_2 \ge \cdots l_r > 0, \qquad \sum_i l_i = N. \quad (D.3)$$

Notice that we have ordered the l_i in nonincreasing order, in order to not count the same state twice. We may associate each partition of N with a unique Young diagram. For each A_{-l} we draw a row of l boxes, and the rows are arranged with nonincreasing l as one moves down. The Young diagram corresponding to the state (D.2) is shown in figure 10.

Our question of what a generic large N state looks like has become a question of what a generic Young diagram looks like (assuming that any individual Young diagram is equally



Figure 11. A Young diagram corresponding to a random partition of N = 1000. The solid line is -y(x) in (D.4).

likely). The answer to this is well known, see e.g. [108, 109]: the number of elements of the partition that have a $l \ge x$ is given by y(x),

$$y(x) = -\frac{1}{\beta} \log(1 - e^{-\beta x}) , \qquad \beta = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{6N}} .$$
 (D.4)

The shape of the Young diagram is given by the curve y(x), as is sketched in figure 11. One can check that y(x) is properly normalized, $N = \int_{1}^{N} dx y(x)$.

What we are really interested in is the number of times mode m is excited — labelled by n_m in (5.25) — for a typical state. Clearly, y(x) is the number of creation operators with an $m \ge x$,

$$y(x) = \sum_{m=x}^{N} n_m$$
 (D.5)

To express n_m in terms of y(x), let us use the notation $n_m \equiv n(m)$ and think of m as a continuous variable. Then,

$$y(x) = \int_{x}^{N} dm \, n(m) \,, \quad \Rightarrow \ n(x) = -y'(x) = \frac{1}{e^{\frac{\pi}{\sqrt{6N}}x} - 1} \,.$$
 (D.6)

This is just the Bose-Einstein distribution, with a temperature,

$$T = \frac{\sqrt{6N}}{\pi} \ . \tag{D.7}$$

Actually, we could have derived this result from first principles, without relying on knowledge of the mathematical result (D.4) for y(x). The argument is a straightforward extension of the derivation in e.g. [26] for the density of states, $\Omega(N)$ (the number of string states at level N). Recall that $\Omega(N)$ is, and we now work in arbitrary dimension D. The polarizations are picked from a basis of D-2 independent polarization vectors, and the number of choices of $\lambda_1^r, \lambda_2^r, \ldots, \lambda_{n_r}^r$ is given by $C_r \equiv \binom{D-2+n_r-1}{n_r} = (-1)^{n_r} \binom{2-D}{n_r}$.

$$\Omega(N) = \sum_{\{n_k\}} \delta\left(N - \sum_k kn_k\right) \prod_k C_k = \sum_{\{n_k\}} \int d\beta e^{\beta N} \prod_k e^{-\beta kn_k} (-1)^{n_k} \binom{2-D}{n_k}$$
$$= \int d\beta e^{\beta N} \prod_k \left(1 - e^{-\beta k}\right)^{2-D}, \qquad (D.8)$$

where we represented the delta function as an integral and performed the sum over the occupation number n_k . Next, we rewrite the integrand as,

$$\prod_{k} \left(1 - e^{-\beta k} \right)^{2-D} = \exp\left(-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (D-2) \log(1 - e^{-\beta k}) \right) = \exp\left((D-2) \sum_{n,k=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-\beta nk}}{n} \right),\tag{D.9}$$

where in the last step we expanded the log. We are going to look for the saddle in the large N limit. Thus, we should take β to be close to 0. Expanding the term being summed,

$$\exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} \frac{D-2}{e^{\beta n}-1}\right) \sim \exp\left(\frac{D-2}{\beta} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2}\right) = \exp\left(\frac{\pi^2(D-2)}{6\beta}\right),\tag{D.10}$$

and so we find the number of states at level $N \gg 1$ is,

$$\Omega(N) \sim \int d\beta \exp\left(\beta N + \frac{\pi^2(D-2)}{6\beta}\right) \sim \exp\left(2\pi\sqrt{\frac{N(D-2)}{6}}\right), \qquad (D.11)$$

where the saddle is at $\beta = \pi \sqrt{\frac{D-2}{6N}}$. The result is of course the Hardy-Ramanujan formula for the asymptotic number of partitions of N.

Our interest is in n_k for a typical state, or equivalently, the expectation value of n_k averaged over all states at level N,

$$\langle n_k \rangle = \frac{\sum_{n_m} n_k \,\delta(\sum m n_m - N) \prod_m C_m}{\Omega(N)} \,. \tag{D.12}$$

We write the numerator in the same way as we did for $\Omega(N)$,

$$\langle n_k \rangle = \frac{1}{\Omega(N)} \int d\beta \sum_{\{n_m\}} n_k \exp\left(\beta \left(N - \sum_m m n_m\right)\right) \prod_m C_m$$

= $\frac{1}{\Omega(N)} \int d\beta \, e^{\beta N} \frac{1}{e^{\beta k} - 1} \prod_m \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{-\beta m}}\right)^{D-2} .$ (D.13)

The saddle will clearly be at the same β as it was for $\Omega(N)$, and so,

$$\langle n_k \rangle = \frac{1}{e^{\beta k} - 1}, \qquad \beta = \pi \sqrt{\frac{D - 2}{6N}}.$$
 (D.14)

Actually, this Bose-Einstein distribution for $\langle n_k \rangle$ was guaranteed, once we knew the density of states. We can think of our setup as a statistical mechanical system consisting of harmonic oscillators, one for each integer frequency. Working in the microcanonical ensemble, and thinking of N as the energy, from $\Omega(N)$ in (D.11) we identify the entropy, and correspondingly the temperature, as,

$$S(N) = \pi \sqrt{\frac{2N(D-2)}{3}}, \qquad \frac{1}{T} \equiv \frac{\partial S}{\partial N} = \pi \sqrt{\frac{D-2}{6N}}, \qquad (D.15)$$

implying the Bose-Einstein distribution for n_k found in (D.14). Note that this "temperature" is not the same as that of a string in the canonical ensemble, as the mass of the string is $M = \sqrt{\frac{N}{\alpha'}}$, which yields the Hagedorn temperature

$$\frac{1}{T_H} \equiv \frac{\partial S}{\partial M} = \pi \sqrt{\frac{2\alpha'(D-2)}{3}} . \tag{D.16}$$

Let us now look at some properties of y(m). We see that the spin (the total number of creation operators) is,

$$J \approx y(1) \approx T \log T + \frac{1}{2}$$
 (D.17)

More generally, for an m of order 1, $y(m) = -T \log(1 - e^{-m/T}) \approx T \log \frac{T}{m}$ for $N \gg 1$. However, as one can see from the plot of y(m) in figure 11, most of the contribution to the area (the total "energy" N) comes from large m. In particular, we will show that most of the contribution to N comes from those creation operators with an m of order $m \sim T \sim \sqrt{N}$. Let us look at the number of creation operators that have an m greater than N^{γ} , for some power $0 < \gamma < 1$,

$$y(N^{\gamma}) = -T \log\left(1 - e^{-\frac{N^{\gamma}}{T}}\right) . \tag{D.18}$$

We see that if $\gamma > 1/2$, this is zero in the large N limit. We may compute the expectation value of m,

$$\langle m \rangle = \frac{1}{y(1)} \int_{1}^{\infty} dm \, m \, n(m) = \frac{T^2}{y(1)} \int_{1/T}^{\infty} dx \frac{x}{e^x - 1} = \frac{T}{\log T} \frac{\pi^2}{6}, \qquad N \gg 1 \;. \tag{D.19}$$

This result is consistent with there being of order T creation operators with an m of order T. More precisely, we may look at the creation operators with an m in the range $\alpha T < m < \beta T$ (with α and β constant in the large N limit), and see the fraction of the total energy N they make up,

$$\int_{\alpha T}^{\beta T} dm \, y(m) = -T^2 \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} dx \, \log(1 - e^{-x}) \, . \tag{D.20}$$

The right hand side is of order N. For instance, if we take $\alpha = .01$ and $\beta = 10$, then the integral gives .965N. Thus, nearly all the energy is in this range. The number of creation operators in this range is,

$$y(\alpha T) - y(\beta T) = -T \log\left(\frac{1 - e^{-\alpha}}{1 - e^{-\beta}}\right)$$
 (D.21)

This is smaller than the total number of creation operators, J, by a factor of $\log T \sim \log N$. The reason is that there are many creation operators with small m, which don't contribute much to the energy. Indeed the number of A_{-1} 's is,

$$n(1) = \frac{1}{e^{1/T} - 1} \approx T$$
 (D.22)

So there are of order T creation operators with an m of order one (and hence an energy contribution of order T), and of order T creation operators with an m of order T (and hence an energy contribution of order $T^2 \sim N$).

Finally, we note that the Bose-Einstein distribution gives an $\langle n_k \rangle$ that is of order-one for k of order T. Clearly, for k much larger than T, the expectation value $\langle n_k \rangle \ll 1$ is no longer a good indicator of the value of n_k for a typical state. However, as we saw, most k are parametrically less than T, by a factor of log T (see (D.19)), so for most k, n_k is large.

So far we have discussed the generic state for fixed N. One could also ask about the states occurring at fixed N and fixed J. The number of states as a function of both N and J is,

$$\Omega(N,J) = ! \sum_{\{n_k\}} \delta\left(N - \sum_k k n_k\right) \delta\left(J - \sum_k n_k\right) \prod_k C_k$$

$$= \sum_{\{n_k\}} \int d\beta d\mu \, e^{\beta N + \mu J} \prod_k e^{-(\beta k + \mu) n_k} (-1)^{n_k} \binom{2-D}{n_k}$$

$$= \int d\beta d\mu \, e^{\beta N + \mu J} \prod_k \left(1 - e^{-\beta k - \mu}\right)^{2-D} .$$
(D.23)

The integrals over β and μ run over the imaginary axis. We will deform the contour to pick up the saddle which lies on the real axis. Repeating the previous calculation,

$$\prod_{k} \left(1 - e^{-\beta k - \mu} \right)^{2-D} = \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-\mu n}}{n} \frac{D-2}{e^{\beta n} - 1} \right) \sim \exp\left(\frac{(D-2)}{\beta} \operatorname{Li}_{2}(e^{-\mu})\right), \quad (D.24)$$

where the Li₂ is the polylogarithm: Li₂ $(e^{-\mu}) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-\mu n}}{n^2} = \pi^2/6 + \mu \log(\mu) + O(\mu^2)$. The density of states at the saddles is given by,

$$\Omega(N,J) \sim \exp\left(\beta N + \mu J + \frac{(D-2)}{\beta} \operatorname{Li}_2(e^{-\mu})\right), \qquad (D.25)$$

where for large N and J, the saddle is given by:

$$N = \frac{D-2}{\beta^2} \operatorname{Li}_2(e^{-\mu}), \qquad J = -\frac{D-2}{\beta} \partial_\mu \operatorname{Li}_2(e^{-\mu}) = -\frac{D-2}{\beta} \log(1-e^{-\mu}). \quad (D.26)$$

To eliminate β and μ in $\Omega(N, J)$, one can take the second equation and divide by the square root of the first equation,

$$\frac{J}{\sqrt{N}} = -\sqrt{D-2} \,\frac{\log(1-e^{-\mu})}{\sqrt{\text{Li}_2(e^{-\mu})}}\,,\tag{D.27}$$

and solve for μ in terms of $\frac{J}{\sqrt{N}}$, and then β is given by $\beta^2 N = (D-2)\text{Li}_2(e^{-\mu})$. We now have the density of states for fixed N and J.

Finally, let us vary J and see for which J there are the most states. It is easiest to express the exponent in (D.25) in terms of μ . This gives,

$$\sqrt{N}\sqrt{D-2}\left(2\sqrt{\text{Li}_2(e^{-\mu})} - \frac{\mu}{\sqrt{\text{Li}_2(e^{-\mu})}}\log(1-e^{-\mu})\right)$$
. (D.28)

One might have expected this to have a local maximum at some value of μ , but in fact this function is monotonic, increasing as μ goes to zero. There is a limit to how small μ can be however, since for it to be legitimate to use the saddle point the terms in the exponent, such as μJ , must be large. This limits μ to be greater than of order $1/\sqrt{N}$. Taking this μ and using (D.27) gives a J of order $T \log T$, where $T = \frac{1}{\pi} \sqrt{\frac{6N}{D-2}}$. This is just what we found earlier in (D.17).

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- S.H. Shenker and D. Stanford, Black holes and the butterfly effect, JHEP 03 (2014) 067 [arXiv:1306.0622] [INSPIRE].
- [2] A. Kitaev, Hidden correlations in the hawking radiation and thermal noise, talk given at the Fundamental Physics Prize Symposium, November 10, (2014), https://youtu.be/OQ9qN8j7EZI.
- [3] J. Polchinski, Chaos in the black hole S-matrix, arXiv:1505.08108 [INSPIRE].
- [4] V. Rosenhaus, Chaos in the QFT S-matrix, arXiv: 2003.07381 [INSPIRE].
- G.T. Horowitz and J. Polchinski, A correspondence principle for black holes and strings, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 6189 [hep-th/9612146] [INSPIRE].
- [6] U. Smilansky, The classical and quantum theory of chaotic scattering, in Chaos and quantum physics, M.K. Giannoni et al. eds., North Holland, Elsevier Science, The Netherlands (1991).
- [7] P. Gaspard and S. A. Rice, Scattering from a classically chaotic repellor, J. Chem. Phys. 90 (1989) 2225.
- [8] P. Gaspard and S. A. Rice, Semiclassical quantization of the scattering from a classically chaotic repellor, J. Chem. Phys. 90 (1989) 2242.
- [9] P. Gaspard and S. A. Rice, Exact quantization of the scattering from a classically chaotic repellor, J. Chem. Phys. 90 (1989) 2255.
- [10] P. Cvitanović and B. Eckhardt, Periodic-orbit quantization of chaotic systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63 (1989) 823.
- [11] P. Cvitanović, R. Artuso, R. Mainieri, G. Tanner and G. Vattay, *Chaos: classical and quantum*, Niels Bohr Institute, Copenhagen, Denmark (2016), http://ChaosBook.org/.
- [12] P. Gaspard, Chaos, scattering and statistical mechanics, Cambridge Nonlinear Science Series, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1998).
- [13] A. Larkin and Y.N. Ovchinnikov, Quasiclassical method in the theory of superconductivity, JETP 28 (1969) 1200.
- [14] J. Maldacena, S.H. Shenker and D. Stanford, A bound on chaos, JHEP 08 (2016) 106 [arXiv:1503.01409] [INSPIRE].
- [15] Y. V. Fyodorov, Random matrix theory of resonances: an overview, arXiv:1606.03124.

- [16] H.A. Weidenmüller and G.E. Mitchell, Random matrices and chaos in nuclear physics. Part 1. Nuclear structure, Rev. Mod. Phys. 81 (2009) 539 [arXiv:0807.1070] [INSPIRE].
- [17] R. Bousso, B. Freivogel and S. Leichenauer, Saturating the holographic entropy bound, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 084024 [arXiv:1003.3012] [INSPIRE].
- [18] D. Mitchell and B. Sundborg, Measuring the size and shape of strings, Nucl. Phys. B 349 (1991) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [19] G.T. Horowitz and J. Polchinski, Selfgravitating fundamental strings, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 2557 [hep-th/9707170] [INSPIRE].
- [20] T. Damour and G. Veneziano, Selfgravitating fundamental strings and black holes, Nucl. Phys. B 568 (2000) 93 [hep-th/9907030] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D. Chialva, Self-interacting fundamental strings and black holes, Nucl. Phys. B 819 (2009)
 256 [arXiv:0903.3977] [INSPIRE].
- [22] L. Susskind, Some speculations about black hole entropy in string theory, hep-th/9309145 [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Strominger and C. Vafa, Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, Phys. Lett. B 379 (1996) 99 [hep-th/9601029] [INSPIRE].
- [24] G. Veneziano, Construction of a crossing-symmetric, Regge behaved amplitude for linearly rising trajectories, Nuovo Cim. A 57 (1968) 190 [INSPIRE].
- [25] J. Polchinski, String theory. Volume 1: an introduction to the bosonic string, Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (2007) [INSPIRE].
- [26] M.B. Green, J. Schwarz, and E. Witten, Superstring theory. Volume 1: introduction, Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1988).
- [27] Z. Koba and H.B. Nielsen, Reaction amplitude for n mesons: a generalization of the Veneziano-Bardakci-Ruegg-Virasora model, Nucl. Phys. B 10 (1969) 633 [INSPIRE].
- [28] J. Dai and J. Polchinski, The decay of macroscopic fundamental strings, Phys. Lett. B 220 (1989) 387 [INSPIRE].
- [29] D. Mitchell, N. Turok, R. Wilkinson and P. Jetzer, The decay of highly excited open strings, Nucl. Phys. B 315 (1989) 1 [Erratum ibid. 322 (1989) 628] [INSPIRE].
- [30] R.B. Wilkinson, N. Turok and D. Mitchell, The decay of highly excited closed strings, Nucl. Phys. B 332 (1990) 131 [INSPIRE].
- [31] J. Sonnenschein and D. Weissman, The decay width of stringy hadrons, Nucl. Phys. B 927 (2018) 368 [arXiv:1705.10329] [INSPIRE].
- [32] R. Iengo and J.G. Russo, *Handbook on string decay*, *JHEP* 02 (2006) 041 [hep-th/0601072]
 [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Matsuo and K.-y. Oda, Geometric cross sections of rotating strings and black holes, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 026003 [arXiv:0808.3645] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S. Dimopoulos and R. Emparan, String balls at the LHC and beyond, Phys. Lett. B 526 (2002) 393 [hep-ph/0108060] [INSPIRE].

- [35] D. Amati and J.G. Russo, Fundamental strings as black bodies, Phys. Lett. B 454 (1999) 207 [hep-th/9901092] [INSPIRE].
- [36] D. Mitchell and B. Sundborg, Measuring the size and shape of strings, Nucl. Phys. B 349 (1991) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Weinberg, Coupling constants and vertex functions in string theories, Phys. Lett. B 156 (1985) 309 [INSPIRE].
- [38] J.L. Manes and M.A.H. Vozmediano, A simple construction of string vertex operators, Nucl. Phys. B 326 (1989) 271 [INSPIRE].
- [39] S. Nergiz, Vertex operators for physical states of bosonic string, J. Math. Phys. **35** (1994) 5669 [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. Hanany, D. Forcella and J. Troost, The covariant perturbative string spectrum, Nucl. Phys. B 846 (2011) 212 [arXiv:1007.2622] [INSPIRE].
- [41] E. Del Giudice, P. Di Vecchia and S. Fubini, General properties of the dual resonance model, Annals Phys. 70 (1972) 378 [INSPIRE].
- [42] D. Skliros and M. Hindmarsh, String Vertex Operators and Cosmic Strings, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 126001 [arXiv:1107.0730] [INSPIRE].
- [43] D. Gross and V. Rosenhaus, *Chaos in high energy string scattering*, in progress.
- [44] D. Gross and V. Rosenhaus, *Splitting of a highly excited string*, in progress.
- [45] M. Ademollo, E. Del Giudice, P. Di Vecchia and S. Fubini, *Couplings of three excited* particles in the dual-resonance model, *Nuovo Cim. A* **19** (1974) 181 [INSPIRE].
- [46] D.J. Gross and A. Jevicki, Operator formulation of interacting string field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 283 (1987) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [47] K. Hornfeck, Three Reggeon light cone vertex of the Neveu-Schwarz string, Nucl. Phys. B 293 (1987) 189 [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Sagnotti and M. Taronna, String lessons for higher-spin interactions, Nucl. Phys. B 842 (2011) 299 [arXiv:1006.5242] [INSPIRE].
- [49] O. Schlotterer, Higher spin scattering in superstring theory, Nucl. Phys. B 849 (2011) 433
 [arXiv:1011.1235] [INSPIRE].
- [50] R.H. Boels, Three particle superstring amplitudes with massive legs, JHEP 06 (2012) 026 [arXiv:1201.2655] [INSPIRE].
- [51] D.J. Gross and V. Rosenhaus, All point correlation functions in SYK, JHEP 12 (2017) 148 [arXiv:1710.08113] [INSPIRE].
- [52] D.J. Gross and V. Rosenhaus, The bulk dual of SYK: cubic couplings, JHEP 05 (2017) 092 [arXiv:1702.08016] [INSPIRE].
- [53] V. Rosenhaus, An introduction to the SYK model, J. Phys. A 52 (2019) 323001
 [arXiv:1807.03334] [INSPIRE].
- [54] P. Salomonson and B.-S. Skagerstam, On superdense superstring gases: a heretic string model approach, Nucl. Phys. B 268 (1986) 349 [INSPIRE].
- [55] P. Salomonson and B.S. Skagerstam, Strings at finite temperature, Physica A 158 (1989) 499 [INSPIRE].

- [56] D. Mitchell and N. Turok, Statistical mechanics of cosmic strings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 58 (1987) 1577 [INSPIRE].
- [57] D. Mitchell and N. Turok, Statistical properties of cosmic strings, Nucl. Phys. B 294 (1987) 1138 [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Kruczenski and A. Lawrence, Random walks and the Hagedorn transition, JHEP 07 (2006) 031 [hep-th/0508148] [INSPIRE].
- [59] T.G. Mertens, H. Verschelde and V.I. Zakharov, Near-Hagedorn thermodynamics and random walks: a general formalism in curved backgrounds, JHEP 02 (2014) 127 [arXiv:1305.7443] [INSPIRE].
- [60] S. Kawamoto and T. Matsuo, Size scaling of self gravitating polymers and strings, PTEP 2015 (2015) 123B02 [arXiv:1506.01160] [INSPIRE].
- [61] J. Polchinski, Collision of macroscopic fundamental strings, Phys. Lett. B **209** (1988) 252 [INSPIRE].
- [62] M.G. Jackson, N.T. Jones and J. Polchinski, Collisions of cosmic F and D-strings, JHEP 10 (2005) 013 [hep-th/0405229] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J.L. Manes, Emission spectrum of fundamental strings: an algebraic approach, Nucl. Phys. B 621 (2002) 37 [hep-th/0109196] [INSPIRE].
- [64] J.L. Manes, String form-factors, JHEP 01 (2004) 033 [hep-th/0312035] [INSPIRE].
- [65] J.L. Manes, Portrait of the string as a random walk, JHEP 03 (2005) 070 [hep-th/0412104] [INSPIRE].
- [66] D.V. Chialva, Massive states in string theory and applications in collider physics and cosmology, Ph.D. thesis, SISSA, Trieste, Italy (2006).
- [67] T. Matsuo, Massless radiation from heavy rotating string and Kerr/string correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 827 (2010) 217 [arXiv:0909.1617] [INSPIRE].
- [68] T. Kuroki and T. Matsuo, Production cross section of rotating string, Nucl. Phys. B 798 (2008) 291 [arXiv:0712.4062] [INSPIRE].
- [69] R. Iengo, Massless radiation from strings: quantum spectrum average statistics and cusp-kink configurations, JHEP 05 (2006) 054 [hep-th/0602125] [INSPIRE].
- [70] D. Chialva, R. Iengo and J.G. Russo, Search for the most stable massive state in superstring theory, JHEP 01 (2005) 001 [hep-th/0410152] [INSPIRE].
- [71] B. Chen, M. Li and J.-H. She, *The fate of massive F-strings*, *JHEP* 06 (2005) 009 [hep-th/0504040] [INSPIRE].
- [72] R. Iengo and J.G. Russo, Semiclassical decay of strings with maximum angular momentum, JHEP 03 (2003) 030 [hep-th/0301109] [INSPIRE].
- [73] L. Cornalba, M.S. Costa, J. Penedones and P. Vieira, From fundamental strings to small black holes, JHEP 12 (2006) 023 [hep-th/0607083] [INSPIRE].
- [74] G. Penington, Entanglement wedge reconstruction and the information paradox, JHEP 09 (2020) 002 [arXiv:1905.08255] [INSPIRE].
- [75] A. Almheiri, N. Engelhardt, D. Marolf and H. Maxfield, The entropy of bulk quantum fields and the entanglement wedge of an evaporating black hole, JHEP 12 (2019) 063
 [arXiv:1905.08762] [INSPIRE].

- [76] A. Almheiri, R. Mahajan, J. Maldacena and Y. Zhao, The Page curve of Hawking radiation from semiclassical geometry, JHEP 03 (2020) 149 [arXiv:1908.10996] [INSPIRE].
- [77] A. Almheiri, T. Hartman, J. Maldacena, E. Shaghoulian and A. Tajdini, *The entropy of Hawking radiation*, arXiv:2006.06872 [INSPIRE].
- [78] B. Sundborg, High-energy asymptotics: the one loop string amplitude and resummation, Nucl. Phys. B 306 (1988) 545 [INSPIRE].
- [79] B. Sundborg, Selfenergies of massive strings, Nucl. Phys. B **319** (1989) 415 [INSPIRE].
- [80] H. Okada and A. Tsuchiya, The decay rate of the massive modes in Type I superstring, Phys. Lett. B 232 (1989) 91 [INSPIRE].
- [81] D. Mitchell, B. Sundborg and N. Turok, Decays of massive open strings, Nucl. Phys. B 335 (1990) 621 [INSPIRE].
- [82] R. Iengo and J.G. Russo, The decay of massive closed superstrings with maximum angular momentum, JHEP 11 (2002) 045 [hep-th/0210245] [INSPIRE].
- [83] D. Chialva, R. Iengo and J.G. Russo, Decay of long-lived massive closed superstring states: exact results, JHEP 12 (2003) 014 [hep-th/0310283] [INSPIRE].
- [84] D. Chialva and R. Iengo, Long lived large type-II strings: decay within compactification, JHEP 07 (2004) 054 [hep-th/0406271] [INSPIRE].
- [85] M. Gutperle and D. Krym, Decays of near BPS heterotic strings, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 086007 [hep-th/0607220] [INSPIRE].
- [86] D. Chialva, String mass shifts, Nucl. Phys. B 819 (2009) 225 [arXiv:0903.3979] [INSPIRE].
- [87] R. Pius, A. Rudra and A. Sen, Mass renormalization in string theory: special states, JHEP 07 (2014) 058 [arXiv:1311.1257] [INSPIRE].
- [88] R. Pius, A. Rudra and A. Sen, Mass renormalization in string theory: general states, JHEP 07 (2014) 062 [arXiv:1401.7014] [INSPIRE].
- [89] A. Sen, One loop mass renormalization of unstable particles in superstring theory, JHEP 11 (2016) 050 [arXiv:1607.06500] [INSPIRE].
- [90] D.J. Gross and P.F. Mende, The high-energy behavior of string scattering amplitudes, Phys. Lett. B 197 (1987) 129 [INSPIRE].
- [91] D.J. Gross and P.F. Mende, String theory beyond the Planck scale, Nucl. Phys. B 303 (1988) 407 [INSPIRE].
- [92] D.J. Gross, High-energy symmetries of string theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60 (1988) 1229 [INSPIRE].
- [93] D.J. Gross and J.L. Manes, The high-energy behavior of open string scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 326 (1989) 73 [INSPIRE].
- [94] S. Ghosh and S. Raju, Breakdown of string perturbation theory for many external particles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 131602 [arXiv:1611.08003] [INSPIRE].
- [95] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering equations and Kawai-Lewellen-Tye orthogonality, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 065001 [arXiv:1306.6575] [INSPIRE].
- [96] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering of massless particles in arbitrary dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 171601 [arXiv:1307.2199] [INSPIRE].

- [97] L. Dolan and P. Goddard, Proof of the formula of Cachazo, He and Yuan for Yang-Mills tree amplitudes in arbitrary dimension, JHEP 05 (2014) 010 [arXiv:1311.5200] [INSPIRE].
- [98] D.P. Skliros and M.B. Hindmarsh, *Covariant vertex operators for cosmic strings*, arXiv:0911.5354 [INSPIRE].
- [99] M. Bianchi and M. Firrotta, DDF operators, open string coherent states and their scattering amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 952 (2020) 114943 [arXiv:1902.07016] [INSPIRE].
- [100] E. D'Hoker and S.B. Giddings, Unitarity of the closed bosonic Polyakov string, Nucl. Phys. B 291 (1987) 90 [INSPIRE].
- [101] D.P. Skliros, E.J. Copeland and P.M. Saffin, Highly excited strings I: generating function, Nucl. Phys. B 916 (2017) 143 [arXiv:1611.06498] [INSPIRE].
- [102] M. Hindmarsh and D. Skliros, Covariant closed string coherent states, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 081602 [arXiv:1006.2559] [INSPIRE].
- [103] D.P. Skliros, E.J. Copeland and P.M. Saffin, Duality and decay of macroscopic F strings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 041601 [arXiv:1304.1155] [INSPIRE].
- [104] A. Aldi and M. Firrotta, String coherent vertex operators of Neveu-Schwarz and Ramond states, Nucl. Phys. B 955 (2020) 115050 [arXiv:1912.06177] [INSPIRE].
- [105] M. Bianchi, L. Lopez and R. Richter, On stable higher spin states in heterotic string theories, JHEP 03 (2011) 051 [arXiv:1010.1177] [INSPIRE].
- [106] A. Addazi, M. Bianchi, M. Firrotta and A. Marcianò, String memories... lost and regained, Nucl. Phys. B 965 (2021) 115356 [arXiv:2008.02206] [INSPIRE].
- [107] A. Aldi, M. Bianchi and M. Firrotta, String memories... openly retold, Phys. Lett. B 813 (2021) 136037 [arXiv:2010.04082] [INSPIRE].
- [108] The shape of a random partition, https://sbseminar.wordpress.com/2015/11/04/the-shape-of-a-random-partition/
- [109] A.M. Vershik, Statistical mechanics of combinatorial partitions, and their limit shapes, Funct. Anal. Appl. 30 (1996) 90.